

© 2024 Observer Research Foundation. All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means without permission in writing from ORF.

Attribution: Kabir Taneja and Natalie Boyse, Eds., *The Yerevan Primer: A World in Transition,* September 2024, Observer Research Foundation.

Observer Research Foundation
20 Rouse Avenue, Institutional Area
New Delhi 110002
India
contactus@orfonline.org
www.orfonline.org

Design: Rahil Miya Shaikh Layout: Simijaison Designs

ISBN: 978-81-19656-59-2

ISBN Digital: 978-81-19656-57-8

Contents

Introduction	4
Kabir Taneja and Natalie Boyse	
Emerging Economic Challenges and Georgia's Response Victor Kipiani	7
The Role of Minilateralism in the Future of Global	
Governance and Security Marianna Albuquerque	12
Marianna Albuquerque	
All at Once: Multilateralism Amid a Polycrisis	17
Erin Watson and Ratu Bintang Assyifa Arweys	
Ivan in the Eve of Control Eurosian Connectivity	22
Iran in the Era of Central Eurasian Connectivity Vali Golmohammadi	2 3
Protecting Europe with Firepower and Democratic Resilience	30
Sarah Bressan	
Gulf States and Economic Opportunities in Central Asia	36
Jonathan Fulton) •
The Changing Character of War Raj Shukla	42
naj Silukia	
Is the World Ready for the Next Pandemic?	47
Wanjiru Munene	
The Cost of a Climate Transition on Women	= 2
Karuna Kumar	5 3
The Regional Security Architecture of the Asia-Pacific at the	
Crossroads	60
Rouben Azizian	
India-Armenia Partnership: Onward to the Next Phase	66
Reena Pandey	

Introduction

Kabir Taneja and Natalie Boyse

he post-Second World War global order is unravelling. While the system had been on shaky ground for years, the COVID-19 pandemic pushed many assumptions resting on this 80-year-old architecture over the edge. Today, calls for change reverberate louder, a new era of great-power competition has set in, frustration with the current system of global governance has grown, and globalisation and multilateralism are facing stronger headwinds.

Amid these shifts, new geographies, actors, and polities are looking to exert and build influence. They are challenging the notions that states small in geography or population are destined to be weak. Novel concepts such as 'minilateralism' are infusing lifesaving breath to the idea of regionalism

as a better conduit for goals such as economic integration and even conflict resolution.

The spokes of the global order wheel are disengaging and looking to build their own ecosystems that feed into strengthening their own core interests. As the international community appears to be failing in finding plausible resolutions to conflicts in Ukraine and Gaza, demands are heightening to institute institutional changes within the United Nations (UN), and more specifically, the UN Security Council.

This compendium of essays examines these shifts, complementing many of the themes driving the inaugural edition of the Yerevan Dialogue. Our contributors cover nearly every geography in the world, showing their unique perspectives on a diverse range of topics, from healthcare and digital societies to connectivity, multipolarity, and security. As geoeconomics takes centre stage in international relations, the Caucuses, and more specifically Armenia, stand at the precipice of gaining significantly given their geographic boons.

Victor Kipiani opens the volume with an exploration of how cross-regional connectivity can benefit the region. Victor looks at Georgia and how small economies can place themselves as key incubators of larger geoeconomics by prioritising and adjusting their domestic and regional policies. In the second piece, Marianna Albuquerque takes a broader view of some of the challenges facing the multilateral order and how concepts such as minilateralism and microlateralism are being proposed, and in some cases mobilised, to circumvent the blockages facing international institutions today. Running on a similar theme, Erin Watson and Ratu Bintang Assyifa Arweys then delve into a critical facet of modern multilateralism—i.e., digitalisation—and how technologies are integrating into both the opportunities and challenges that face societies.

Pivoting once again to a more regional outlook, *Vali Golmohammadi* examines the interests of Iran and how its ports, such as Chabahar in the country's south, connect the Caucuses not only regionally, but large sections of the trading world as well. *Sarah Bressan* follows with a piece that looks more deeply at some of the external and internal security challenges confronting Europe. *Jonathan Fulton* then highlights the potential of the Gulf's economic opportunities in Central Asia: As Gulf states become premier global financial centres, their position as major investors in the new era of geoeconomics has become difficult to ignore.

Introduction 5

Next, Raj Shukla unpacks the impact of technology on modern warfare. For her part, Wanjiru Munene asks what lessons our societies have learned from the experience of the pandemic, and whether we are prepared to tackle another such global health emergency. Karuna Kumar closes the loop on this theme with an exposition of how female participation in global politics is changing the landscape, and whether it is succeeding in building a more just system for the future.

The last section starts with *Rouben Azizian* discussing maritime security in the Indo-Pacific, a geography that may be far from the Caucuses but is relevant in shaping future understandings of conflict, cooperation, and connectivity. Lastly, *Reena Pandey's* piece could have either opened or closed this volume—a sort of an ode to the fast gaining bilateral relationship between India and Armenia.

The varied topics and authors carried in this compendium are framed by a globalist agenda. The essays build on the spirit of the Yerevan Dialogue, which is bringing the world's debates to Armenia in hopes of exploring innovative ideas to create a brighter tomorrow for all.

Kabir Taneja is Fellow, Strategic Studies Programme, ORF. **Natalie Boyse** is Program Manager, Global Programs, ORF America.

Emerging Economic Challenges and Georgia's Response

Victor Kipiani

he end of the Cold War not only heralded an idyll in international relations but also promised maximum access to the accumulated economic benefits worldwide through various alliances, pacts, or initiatives. Accordingly, economic globalisation became prioritised. The only exception in the mainstream was the creation of large trading blocs, which contributed to the global economic texture. In some places, this process took on the character of de-globalisation; however, in practice, its end result was a global universalisation of the world economy. Eventually, a sort of "forced reversal" came into action.

In the past couple of decades, the world economy has suffered a number of blows, with the most systemically transformative of them being the financial crisis of 2008-2009, the COVID-19 pandemic and post-pandemic recovery, and the ongoing Russia-Ukraine war. The war posed a challenge to Europe, which had to respond to two issues fundamental to it, such as importing cheap energy from Russia and exporting advanced technology to China. Military operations in the Middle East are also developing, although it may be too early to draw definite conclusions. Notably, along with exogenous developments, the larger economic picture is influenced by political changes within specific national systems.

In the given situation, and in response to cascading shocks, the most natural reaction would be a greater diversification of economic linkages, even if this leads to additional costs or complex logistical solutions. Ultimately, it is clear that the universalisation of economic relations predicted for an indefinite period after the end of the Cold War has not stood the test of time. This failure has manifested itself in the following:

- increasing economic inequalities within countries
- deepening inequalities between the economic capacities of different countries or regions
- transforming economic means into an instrument of pressure, i.e., the phenomenon of weaponisation

As a result, the harmonisation of common rules of behaviour is hampered and the national economic systems of various countries are entering a "defensive" mode, while global actors justify basic policy decisions in the economy that are driven by considerations of national interest. Additionally, and alongside growing global challenges, a number of countries—such as the United States, France, Germany, and Italy—have openly declared economic policies that are heavily dictated by national security considerations.

The fact that the new industrial policy is determined by economic actors of high calibre is concerning. These actors are expected to participate in the world economy responsibly and consistently to maintain the necessary balance between developed and developing countries and create fair and equal conditions for development driven by global order and stability. Contrarily, there has been a deepening of trends that seek to artificially stimulate the domestic market through overt protectionism to reduce the coordination necessary to manage existing global threats and to disintegrate the standards of interconnectedness

and interdependence that are necessary to tame the primary ally of extremism and radicalism—poverty.

The promotion of coercive economic policies and the indiscriminate use of sanctions as an immediate response have undermined the foundations of meaningful economic policy. For their part, excessive and ill-considered punitive practices and setting up new patterns of economic conduct are tilted towards favouring "me" over "we" and consequently reducing economic resilience in the face of growing global challenges.

The 'Crash' Case for Georgia

The small size of the Georgian economy is likely one of the obstacles to its rapid growth. However, in the modern world, "smallness" does not indicate exclusion and isolation. Moreover, the interconnectedness of global economic channels and the wide spillover of global shocks have made the division of "big" and "small" economies more conditional. Therefore, in determining Georgia's economic policy, it is necessary to constantly monitor and assess processes to determine the actions that need to be implemented while being guided by rationality.

To promote the stability and self-sufficiency of Georgia's economic system, its competitiveness, and real growth, the following considerations need to be made:

- Wider integration with developed economies: This will aid qualitative improvements in trade and financial flows as well as for the transfer and adoption of advanced technologies and knowledge.
- Expansion and diversification of the export market: Holding on to a particular
 market is economically vulnerable and risky from the perspective of national
 security. Accordingly, the more sources of expenditure and income there
 are, the more space and freedom there is for nation-state development.
 All this is connected with free trade agreements and trade associations.

With the rise of economic nationalism in the world, Georgia should also think of the following:

• The qualitative side of investment. Given the current global and regional threats, there is a need to differentiate between and choose investments. Therefore, it is advisable to review investments and introduce a mechanism

for their screening at the legislative level. Several developed economic systems already use this method.

Timely channelling of necessary resources into the country's intellect. Without
ensuring intellectual self-sufficiency, Georgia is bound to witness the outflow
of valuable human resources and thus exhaust the country's competitiveness
and growth potential in the near future.

In addition to the above, the following practical measures should be considered:

- Economic security needs to be given increasing importance in the national security doctrine of Georgia. This attention needs to be dictated by the modern and multifaceted understanding of "security" mentioned in this article.
 National security requires a unified set of economic measures because few act as honourable partners with the weak, the poor, and those seeking help.
- Economic security in the format of the National Security Council should be strengthened. The creation of a separate Economic Security Council or its institutionalisation within the system of the National Security Council is also a possibility. In terms of the structural approach, establishing the position of the Minister of Economic Security in the Government of Georgia, with corresponding supervisory scope and functions, must also be considered.
- Whether under the auspices of the Economic Security Council or the Minister of Economic Security, one of the main tasks should be to continuously monitor and analyse the risks and threats to Georgia's economic security. This process should be objectively reflected in a periodic document on economic threats (similar to the current practice in the European Union). Among other necessary issues, the document will assess short-, medium-, and long-term risks to the country's economic security, as well as recommended measures to minimise and manage them.
- The appropriateness of legislation towards ensuring economic security (e.g., Georgia's Act on Economic Security) needs to be discussed. In working on such legislation, special attention should be paid to, inter alia:

- the coordination of government agencies in times of crisis
- rapidly realigning global or regional delivery and supply from one system to another to reduce overdependence on one system
- promoting modern innovation in critical sectors

From global practices, Georgia needs to learn that, apart from the interconnectedness of economics and politics, it is practically impossible to achieve political stability and societal cohesion without sound, fair, and equal economic opportunities. Within the new and challenging realities of a new order, the competitiveness of the Georgian state needs to manifest in a "project state" whose sole focus is not governance but transforming the society and guiding it on the way to a meaningful development agenda.

Victor Kipiani is Chairman, Geocase—a Georgian think tank based in Tbilisi; and senior partner, MKD Law offices.

The Role of Minilateralism in the Future of Global Governance and Security

Marianna Albuquerque

ultilateralism, according to Keohane's classic definition,¹ is the practice of coordinating national policies in groups of three or more states. Although important as a bedrock for subsequent discussions on cooperation among units, looking at multilateralism only by the number of participants does not fully grasp the qualitative meaning embedded in the concept. Defining multilateralism in such a manner hides the fact that arrangements of three or more members can function, in practice, as unilateral or bilateral.²

Therefore, in addition to the number of stakeholders involved, there are principles that frame the practice of multilateralism. These include indivisibility—which means that the agreements approved apply to all

the states involved—and reciprocity.³ Multilateralism is thus an institutional and historical construct that minimises transactional costs, encourages cooperation and peer-to-peer learning, makes the decision-making process more transparent and democratic, and establishes values and norms that are essential for the legitimacy of the international system.⁴

If these principles are observed, multilateralism, at least on paper, is supposed to overcome non-representative decision-making in the international system. However, the practice has historically failed to fully meet the theory. In empirical occasions, the purposes of multilateralism have been distorted, and decisions have been made unilaterally or by restricted groups, to the detriment of collective action. The most tangible example is perhaps the asymmetries and power politics among the five permanent members of the United Nations Security Council; there is also the *de facto* veto power that the United States has within the Bretton Woods institutions.

In parallel to the misrepresentation of multilateral values, the current crisis of multilateralism is also partly due to a context in which international challenges demand increasingly rapid solutions and, in turn, multilateral institutions have shown a relative inability to provide results in the short term. Many multilateral institutions have a top-bottom and centralised process to reform and amend their constitutive document, which renders including necessary updates a lengthy and politically costly process. The solution to circumvent these constraints has been the development of informal groups with reduced membership, which operate outside institutional spaces or create their own institutionality. To describe this phenomenon, analysts have proposed various concepts, including 'oligarchic international system', 'collusion diplomacy', 'club diplomacy', 'like-minded groups', 'microlateralism', and 'minilateralism'.⁵

The search for negotiating dynamism through flexible grouping could generate the institutional weakening of multilateralism, with impacts such as the transfer of debates from quasi-universal forums to small groups. As a result, it can lead to a simultaneously exclusive and excluding decision-making space. If one mirrors historical examples, there is a potential risk that limiting the participants could exclude Global South countries from the equation, with the G7 being an illustrative case. If not properly framed, minilateral groups can unleash a spiral of mismatches: developed countries and great powers agree on policies that have an impact beyond their own national circumscriptions; then, Global South countries are directly or indirectly affected by an exogenous

ruling. As those policies were designed from an outside perspective that does not necessarily fit the situation "on the ground", Global South countries face more and more obstacles to overcome structural limitations and guarantee a seat at the high table.

Yet, one could also argue that group dynamism can be an ally to surmount institutional rigidity and, therefore, support multilateralism in being effective in solving global problems. For those who advocate for this thesis, negotiations should start at the smallest possible number of states that have the greatest possible impact on solving a specific problem, moving away from multilateralism towards minilateralism.⁶ The rationale is that collective deadlocks could be minimised by creating core groups for initial debates, with the subsequent multilateralisation of agreements.⁷ It can become an even more well-suited strategy if one departs from the smallest possible number *while* ensuring representativeness. The G20 is a successful example in that regard, by combining the powers of the past and the ones that are already shaping the future of power.

Regardless of which perspective is taken, the renewed call for multilateral politics should not simply be a return to the practices of the past. It must bring into play new principles, issues, players, and narratives, moving beyond structures that were created in the 1940s. The world undoubtedly faces a new geopolitical scenario that must be considered by both multilateral and minilateral structures.

Even if the "what" is settled, the "how" remains a challenge. A first topic that needs to be equalised is that the transfer of economic power from the West to Asia is unveiling a myriad of new political realities. Asia has different perspectives on regionalism, institutionalism, and sovereignty that tend to progressively be an influent part of international politics. A second issue that must be in the spotlight is that while global multilateral negotiations have been failing, agreements have advanced at the regional level, particularly in Asia. We are witnessing a shift from UN-led politics to regional politics, which has an unequivocal effect on multilateralism. A third process that must be taken into account is the re-emergence of nationalism, which deeply affects the relationship between national sovereignty and regulation at the global level. It has an important effect on multilateralism as it reinforces the dilemma between forfeiting a level of sovereignty, the need to develop as close to self-sufficient value chains as possible, and upholding multilateral commitments.

To conclude, the interaction between minilateral and multilateral arrangements can only be maximised if they consider embracing and accommodating the diversity of political and economic regimes as a core value. The current multipolar world is much broader than Western like-minded perspectives. Some of the most contentious stalemates in multilateral organisations, be it the United Nations or the World Trade Organization, are related to the resistance and maintaining-the-status-quo stance by some of the great powers of the past and its hegemonic power alliances.

Historically, multilateral cooperation has been based on the concerns and interests of Western countries which are portrayed as "universal". We are facing a vault in which there is no longer an agreement on what constitutes universal multilateral values; and even, to begin with, if multilateralism should be value-oriented. The reality is that today there is a stark contrast—as never before—between the current distribution of power landlocked in international institutions and the reality of an evolving multipolar world.

Marianna Albuquerque is Professor at the Institute of International Relations and Defense of the Federal University of Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. She participated in the 2023 Asian Forum of Global Governance, organised by Observer Research Foundation.

Endnotes

- 1 Robert Keohane, "Multilateralism: An Agenda for Research", International Journal 45, no. 4 (1990), 731-764, https://www.jstor.org/stable/40202705.
- John Ruggie, "Multilateralism: The Anatomy of an Institution", International Organization 46, no 3 (1992), 561-598, https://scholar.harvard.edu/files/john-ruggie/files/multilateralism.pdf
- Monica Herz and Andrea Ribeiro Hoffmann, Organizações Internacionais: história e práticas (Rio de Janeiro: Campus Elsevier, 2004)
- 4 Carlos Milani, "Crise Política e Relações Internacionais: uma análise escalar da política externa brasileira" in VI Conferência Nacional de Política Externa e Política Internacional: Relações Internacionais em Tempos de Crise Econômica e Política (Brasília, Funag: 2012),43-60.
- Bertrand Badie, La diplomatie de connivence: les derives oligarchiques du système international (Paris: La Découverte, 2011)
- 6 Moises Naím, "Minilateralism", Foreign Policy; June 21, 2009, https://foreignpolicy.com/2009/06/21/minilateralism/
- 7 Friedrich Kratochwil, "The Embarrassment of Changes: Neo-Realism as the Science of Realpolitik without Politics", Review of International Studies 19, no. 1 (1993), 63-80, http://www.rochelleterman.com/ir/sites/default/files/Kratochwil%201993.pdf
- 8 Anna Jaguaribe, International politics: reorientation of multilateralism (Rio de Janeiro: Centro Brasileiro de Relações Internacionais, 2021)
- 9 Anna Jaguaribe, "Multilateral Today" (speech, webinar, May 3, 2021), https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=gtke-7B0iYk

All at Once: Multilateralism Amid a Polycrisis

Erin Watson and Ratu Bintang Assyifa Arweys

n the 2022 critically acclaimed Hollywood film, Everything Everywhere All At Once, the affable Waymond owns a laundromat with his wife, Evelyn. What would typically be a rather mundane existence is turned on its head when Evelyn discovers that she has the ability to access a multiverse of alternate, parallel realities. In a pivotal moment of the film, Waymond says, "In another life, I would have really liked just doing laundry and taxes with you."

Everything Everywhere All At Once could be an allegory representing the polycrisis that humankind is currently experiencing—a web of interconnected crises that make the ordinary seem distant and unattainable. The high cost of living, natural disasters, geoeconomic confrontations, large-scale

forced displacement, and widespread cybercrime and cyber insecurity are just some of the risks contributing to the current global complexities.¹

Much of the conversation on the situation is hinged on the notion that the current polycrisis is a failure of multilateralism. Protectionism, nationalism, and unilateral decisions of global powers, which undermine international cooperation, have contributed to a decline in the world order and are to blame for the scenario we find ourselves in.²

In today's global landscape, however, this argument is trite. The more interesting and valuable conversation is about how multilateralism adapts and transforms to respond to these crises.³ An even more relevant conversation point is where and how multilateral organisations can coalesce on an issue and drive systemic change that can make a genuine impact on people's lives.

One example of such multilateral cooperation is digital public infrastructure (DPI). Much like Evelyn's multiverse, multiple things can be true simultaneously. While digitisation can be one of humankind's greatest threats, DPI has increased the economic prosperity of billions. Consider India's example, where 'India Stack', which enables fast and free payments, has helped over 800 million people, primarily from rural areas, out of poverty.⁴

Digitalisation as a multilateral agenda item emerged as a sideline topic around a decade ago.⁵ Since then, DPI has emerged as a vital tool for economic development through the digital economy. DPIs are open-source application programming interfaces, the "digital railroads" laid down by governments, and are used by different service providers (the private sector) and users (citizens). They can encompass digital identity, payments, and data storage and sharing.⁶ With success stories such as India's implementation of DPI, a number of multilateral institutions and initiatives have emerged to cooperate and build DPIs.

The G20 is a key example of this. First emerging in the grouping as the 'internet economy' in 2015 during the G20 Antalya Summit, global leaders included the substantial challenges and opportunities it would bring to the global economy. Fast forward to 2024, and digitalisation is now an enduring pillar of successive G20 presidencies. The Global Digital Public Infrastructure Repository was launched under India's G20 presidency in 2023. Of the countries with DPIs listed in this repository, 11 are members of the G20: Argentina,

Australia, Bangladesh, Brazil, EU, France, Germany, India, Italy, Japan, Mauritius, Nigeria, Oman, Republic of Korea, Russia, and Singapore. This demonstrates how the G20 has played a significant role in promoting DPIs across its broad and inclusive membership.

The United Nations (UN) is also a bright spot in multilateral cooperation for DPIs. The DPI Safeguards Working Group initiated by the Office of the UN Secretary-General's Envoy on Technology and the UN Development Programme is a Track 1.5 programme that brings together government and non-government stakeholders to focus on ensuring and bridging the digital divide, including on risks concerning human rights, state surveillance, and discrimination. Its consultative group brings together crucial multilateral institutions, including the Asian Development Bank, the African Development Bank, and the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development.⁸ While the UN is more generally criticised for its inability to function as a multilateral organisation established to prevent and resolve a crisis, the work that is not related to the Security Council remains important to unify countries and institutions on thematic issues, particularly on civil society concerns.⁹

Multilateral implementation programmes now accompany these policy and regulatory approaches. Consider, for instance, the 50-in-5 country-led advocacy campaign launched in 2023 to help 50 countries design, launch, and scale DPI components by 2028. Eleven diverse economies joined the initiative as first movers: Bangladesh, Estonia, Ethiopia, Guatemala, Moldova, Norway, Senegal, Sierra Leone, Singapore, Sri Lanka, and Togo. 10 Although the campaign has yet to yield results, it notably transcends the usual multilateral groupings.

These examples, albeit not exhaustive, give pause to thought about critical players in multilateralism. The G20 has an inclusive membership, with the African Union joining the grouping in 2023, and the DPI Safeguards Working Group and 50-in-5 initiative have balanced representations from the Global South and Global North. This shows that multilateralism, particularly in DPI, is no longer driven by only the Global North countries; the Global South is becoming a champion in multilateral cooperation to build DPIs.¹¹

Indeed, the trend of the Global South taking a leadership role in DPI development is best demonstrated by India. India has agreements with countries such as Singapore, the United Arab Emirates, Bhutan, Sri Lanka, and France¹² to implement its Unified Payments Interface, enabling cheap and easy cross-border payments

and facilitating the movement of people and money. Perhaps more impressive is that upper-middle-income countries like Armenia are actively seeking India's implementation of population-wide digital transformation; Armenia signed a memorandum of understanding with India in 2023 to drive this change, drawing on India Stack.¹³ Conversely, high-income countries like Australia struggle to adopt economy-wide digital identification systems that India is renowned for. Digital ID legislation has been passed, providing the basis for national, state and territory governments to authenticate identification when citizens access or apply for government services without having to do it using physical documents.¹⁴ However, it will take another two years for the private sector to opt into this system, if at all. Developments like these are politically challenged in Australia, with an emerging movement against the universal digital ID over freedom, privacy, and surveillance concerns.¹⁵

What does this then mean for the future of multilateralism, especially amid a polycrisis?

First, multilateralism is transforming rather than failing. The multilateral system has bright spots where it is rising to unify and meet challenges such as digitisation through frameworks and approaches with more flexibility than existing systems like the UN General Assembly. Second, new players and power dynamics are driving this new form of multilateralism. Consequently, Global South leadership in multilateral institutions and campaigns is increasing. The demand and need for digitisation have also driven innovations in countries like India, which has leapfrogged many of the wealthier countries' approaches to the digital world. Third, there are several ways and means for multilateralism to tackle the problems of the polycrisis. Multilateralism can take the form of significant institutions such as the G20, or they can be smaller and diverse concerts of countries working together to approach shared challenges where interests align.

As we navigate a new and more complex multilateral system, it is necessary to hold space for the multiverse of realities in that system. Much like Waymond sought to navigate the complexities of Evelyn's multiverses, we must recognise there will be multiple truths, multiple players, and, potentially, multiple endings.

Erin Watson is Managing Director at Baker & York and Adjunct at the Griffith Asia Centre. **Ratu Bintang Assyifa Arweys** is a Research Assistant at Baker & York.

Endnotes

- Simon Torkington, "We are on a brink of polycrisis: How worried should we be?", World Economy Forum, https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2023/01/polycrisis-global-risks-report-cost-of-living/
- 2 Natalia Tocci, "Multilateralism is Broken", *Politico*, October 10, 2023, https://www.politico.eu/article/multilateralism-broken-diplomacy-united-nations-eu-global-governance/
- International Peace Institute, Multilateralism Index: Pilot Report, September 2022, New York City, International Peace Institute, 2022, https://www.ipinst.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/ Multilateralism Index.pdf
- 4 "India Lifted 800 Million People Out Of Poverty 'Simply By Smartphone': UNGA", *NDTV World*, August 2, 2024, https://www.ndtv.com/india-news/unga-president-says-india-lifted-800-million-people-out-of-poverty-simply-by-smartphone-6244285
- 5 Erin Watson-Lynn, "Digital Futures: Leveraging G20 for UK-India Cooperation", New Delhi, Observer Research Foundation, 2022, https://www.orfonline.org/public/uploads/posts/pdf/20230420203513.pdf
- Astha Kapoor and Erin Watson, "Defining the Digital Public Infrastructure Approach", T20 Policy Brief, https://t20ind.org/research/defining-the-digital-public-infrastructure-approach/
- Frin Watson-Lynn, "Digital Futures: Leveraging G20 for UK-India Cooperation", Observer Research Foundation, 2022, https://www.orfonline.org/public/uploads/posts/pdf/20230420203513. pdf
- 8 DPI Safeguards, "Members", DPI Safeguards, https://www.dpi-safeguards.org/wg-members
- Monica Herz, "The UN and the multilateral system are in crisis what the Global South must do-adoption-around-world", *The Conversation*, https://theconversation.com/the-un-and-the-multilateral-system-are-in-crisis-what-the-global-south-must-do-214515; Habib Ur Rehman Mayar, "Multilateralism in an age of crises Where do countries at the last mile of development fit in?", Columbia SIPA, https://multilateralism.sipa.columbia.edu/news/multilateralism-age-crises-where-do-countries-last-mile-development-fit
- 10 UNDP, "11 'First-Mover' Countries Launch 50-in-5 Campaign to Accelerate Digital Public Infrastructure Adoption around the World", UNDP, https://www.undp.org/news/11-first-mover-countries-launch-50-5-campaign-accelerate-digital-public-infrastructure
- 11 UNDP, "11 'First-Mover' Countries Launch 50-in-5 Campaign to Accelerate Digital Public Infrastructure Adoption around the World"
- Monetary Authority of Singapore, Government of Singapore, https://www.mas.gov.sg/news/media-releases/2023/launch-of-real-time-paymentsbetween-singapore-and-india "UAE to launch national domestic card scheme", Fin Extra, October 4, 2023, https://www.finextra.com/newsarticle/43137/ uae-to-launch-national-domestic-card-scheme; "Bhutan becomes first neighbouring country to use BHIM UPI", Indian Express, July 14, 2021, https://indianexpress.com/article/business/bhutan-becomes-the-first-neighbouring-country-to-use-bhim-upi-7403970; "India and Sri Lanka working together to link UPI and Lanka Pay: PM Modi", Economic Times, October 14, 2023, https://economictimes.indiatimes.com/industry/banking/finance/banking/india-and-sri-lanka-working-together-to-link-upi-and-lanka-pay-pm-modi/articleshow/104417986.cms?from=mdr; "Following Eiffel debut, India launches UPI at Galeries Lafayette, Paris", The Economic Times, July 5, 2024, https://economictimes.indiatimes.com/nri/invest/following-eiffel-debut-india-launches-upi-at-galeries-lafayette-paris/articleshow/111509483.cms
- "Armenia and India expand institutional cooperation in digital public transformation", Arka Telecom, June 12, 2023, https://telecom.arka.am/en/news/telecom/armenia_and_india_expand_institutional_cooperation_in_digital_public_transformation/

All at Once: Multilateralism Amid a Polycrisis

21

- 14 Australia's Digital ID System, "What is Digital ID?", https://www.digitalidsystem.gov.au/what-is-digital-id
- Pauline Hanson's One Nation, "Petition: Request for Immediate Action Against the Digital ID Act 2023", 2023, https://www.onenation.org.au/petition-request-for-immediate-action-against-the-digital-id-act-2023

Iran in the Era of Central Eurasian Connectivity

Vali Golmohammadi

ran's geostrategic location at the crossroads of Central Eurasia gives it a pivotal role in fostering trans-regional connectivity economic integration: it bridges Europe and Asia, connecting India and Russia in the North-South corridor; connects Asia and Europe in the East-West corridor; connects Central Asia, the Caucasus, and Western Europe in the TRACECA Corridor; connects Southeast Asia to northwestern Europe in the South Asian Corridor; and connects Central Asian countries to the Persian Gulf in the Ashgabat agreement.1 Iran's increasing role in various Eurasian transit initiatives further underscores its importance in fostering regional connectivity and facilitating dialogue among diverse stakeholders, contributing to a more interconnected and prosperous Eurasian landscape. In doing so, Iran seeks to leverage its geographic advantages to propose the Iran-Rah initiative and affirm its role as a transit hub in the development of Central Eurasian connectivity.

Iran and the Emerging Eurasian Context

Central Eurasia, a landlocked region historically dominated by Russia, has experienced significant shifts in communication dynamics since the dissolution of the Soviet Union. Previously reliant on Moscow for connectivity, the emergence of new republics has prompted efforts to establish alternative routes for engagement with the global community. In recent years, particularly following the eruption of the Ukraine conflict, Western powers have intensified competition to curtail the influence of Eastern powers in transportation and communication corridors—notably, China's Belt and Road Initiative and the Northern Corridor. Instead, the Middle Corridor, which links Southeast Asia and China to Europe via the Trans-Caspian International Transport Route, and the Southern Corridor connecting South Asia to the Mediterranean, have been developed to counterbalance the Northern Corridor and enhance regional connectivity.²

Iran has historically been viewed as a Middle Eastern power caught in a regional security dilemma—a perspective rooted in the late 20th-century dynamics that emphasised a unipolar world dominated by the United States (US). As Europe and Asia forge closer ties and economic exchanges intensify, it is imperative to reassess this characterisation. The evolution of Iran's foreign policy is increasingly influenced by "Eurasian" factors, reflecting a complex interplay of emerging economic trends and the political realities of a multipolar global landscape.³ The emerging Eurasian vector in Iran's foreign policy offers an opportunity to adopt an active regionalism for nurturing connectivity and strengthening multilateralism.

Central Eurasia possesses profound historical, cultural, and civilisational significance for the Islamic Republic of Iran through extensive geographical and demographic connections. Despite these ties, Iran's practical engagement in the region's economic, political, and cultural domains remains constrained. This limitation underscores the need for a more proactive approach to enhance Iran's influence and deepen regional collaboration.⁴ Recent developments have provoked optimism for enhanced cooperation between Iran and Central Eurasian countries. Notable among these is the preferential trade agreement established

between Iran and the Eurasian Economic Union in 2019, complemented by a free trade agreement signed in 2023.⁵ Additionally, Iran's accession to the Shanghai Cooperation Organization in 2022, along with the new government's "neighborhood and Look East" policies initiated in 2021, further underscore a commitment to strengthened regional ties.

The ongoing Ukraine war, along with Western sanctions on Russia, have altered Eurasian trade dynamics, highlighting Iran's newfound strategic importance as a transit and transport hub. This development positions Iran as a critical connector of China and Central Asia to Europe, as well as facilitating trade between Russia and India via the International North-South Transport Corridor (INSTC). Over the past three decades, following the independence of its neighbouring countries in Central Asia and the South Caucasus, Iran has actively pursued both bilateral and multilateral collaborations to leverage its geographical advantage, bridging the Caspian Sea and Central Asia with the Persian Gulf.

Concerned by Türkiye's promotion of transit routes like the Trans-Caspian East-West-Middle Corridor, Iran has advanced the INSTC through Armenian territory. The INSTC, a multimodal network connecting the Persian Gulf and Indian ports with Russia via ship, rail, and road, also aims to provide Moscow with alternative routes amidst the Ukraine war. Despite collaboration between Iran, Russia, India, and recently Armenia, to operationalise the INSTC, challenges remain in fully implementing the project.⁶

In 2022, the North-South Corridor commenced its operational phase. On 18 June 2022, the inaugural freight train transporting Kazakhstan's sulfur cargo arrived in Iran via InchehBorun at the Iran-Turkmenistan border. The following day, in Tehran, then President Ebrahim Raisi and visiting Kazakh President Kassym Jomart Tokayev inaugurated the Kazakhstan-Turkmenistan-Iran (KTI) transit corridor, also known as the Southern Caspian Sea Corridor to Europe through Türkiye. Prior to this, Turkmen President Serdar Berdimuhamedow's visit to Tehran facilitated the signing of bilateral agreements aimed at enhancing economic cooperation, particularly in transit, transportation, and the oil and natural gas sectors. As connecting with Iran is increasingly tempting for Central Asian countries, Tehran also proposed linking to the China-Kyrgyzstan-Uzbekistan railway in 2022 and addressed the possibility of a transit corridor with Tashkent and Ashgabat in October 2023.8

The Iran-Rah Initiative

In light of extensive US sanctions impacting oil exports, energy infrastructure, and financial transactions, Iran has sought to mitigate regional and international isolation by enhancing its role in regional transit. By strategically leveraging its geographical position, Iran aims to establish robust and stable income streams despite prevailing challenges. Through this endeavour, Iran aspires to maximise its geostrategic potential as a central hub for Eurasian connectivity routes, facilitating economic resilience and integration. In this context, on 4 July 2023, Iranian Roads Minister unveiled a multifaceted transit initiative aimed at enhancing its infrastructure, encompassing transportation routes, ports, digital connectivity, and energy lines.9 Central to this initiative is the promotion of "road diplomacy" in its foreign policy. 10 The activation of international multimodal transport corridors has been pivotal to Iran's road diplomacy. Notable initiatives include the launch of the KTI Railway Corridor, the facilitation of the Kyrgyzstan-Tajikistan-Afghanistan-Iran (KTAI) transport corridor, and the trial testing of the Persian Gulf-Black Sea Corridor. These developments underscore Iran's strategic commitment to enhancing regional connectivity.

At the 26th St. Petersburg International Economic Forum, during a trilateral meeting among Iran, Russia, and India focusing on the INSTC, Iranian Roads Minister Mehrdad Bazrpash proposed the Iran-Rah Initiative.¹¹ The initiative emphasises eight fundamental principles including multilateralism, a neighbourhood-oriented transit approach, and technological advancements aimed at enhancing logistics and transportation across the wider Eurasia.¹² According to the Iran-Rah Initiative, Iran is actively pursuing the development of alternative land routes to enhance transit connectivity from East and Southeast Asia, including China and India, to Central Asia, the Caucasus, and Europe, thereby reducing reliance on the maritime route through the Suez Canal.

The Iran-Rah initiative reflects Iran's strategic vision to enhance its role in global transit and logistics by leveraging its geographical advantages. By positioning itself as both a "path" and a "solution", Iran aims to create a network that not only facilitates trade and transport but also builds regional economic integration. Notably, Iran considers India and Russia to be key partners in the north-south corridors, while Turkmenistan, Tajikistan, and Kazakhstan are regarded as vital allies within the east-west corridors, underscoring Iran's strategic intent to strengthen regional connectivity and collaboration.¹³

Through the Iran-Rah initiative, Iran aims to establish secure and efficient connectivity that promotes economic benefits for all participating nations. This strategic approach fosters constructive competition and collaborative partnerships among stakeholders—including governments, businesses, and logistics companies—while framing countries along its transit corridors as partners rather than mere neighbours.

The Iran-Rah initiative encompasses a number of key infrastructure projects aimed at enhancing trans-regional connectivity that include the expansion and modernisation of road and rail networks; investment in key ports, such as the Shahid Rajaei Port in Bandar Abbas, the Chabahar port, and other ports along the Caspian Sea and Persian Gulf; the establishment of logistics parks and freight terminals to streamline cargo handling and improve supply chain efficiency; upgrading telecommunication infrastructures to support better connectivity and digital trade; and enhancing energy infrastructure, including oil and gas pipelines, to connect with neighbouring countries and ensure energy security. These projects align with Iran's vision of becoming a transit hub in the shifting geo-economics in Eurasia.

The Way Forward

Iran faces an enormous challenge in navigating the evolving geopolitical landscape of Eurasia, particularly as various great powers—i.e., China, Russia, the US, India—and rival regional stakeholders like Türkiye pursue ambitious connectivity and integration initiatives. It is of paramount necessity for Iran to adapt to these shifting dynamics, as its strategic positioning can either facilitate or hinder its participation in regional projects. Balancing national interests with the competing agendas of these influential actors will be crucial for Iran to enhance its geopolitical relevance and develop its connectivity with the region. The Iran-Rah initiative holds the potential to transform Iran's economic landscape while reshaping its geopolitical relationships and positioning it as a regional hub for trade and connectivity in Central Eurasia.

The ongoing conflict between Russia and Ukraine, coupled with Western sanctions against Russia and the blockade of east-west transit corridors across Russian territory, are influencing the dynamics of key transit corridors in Central Eurasia. Notably, the Middle Corridor operates independently of Iran and Russia, while both Tehran and Moscow, along with India, actively engage in the INSTC.¹⁵ Moreover, Iran aspires to enhance its involvement in the Persian

Gulf-Black Sea International Transport and Transit Corridor by collaborating with Armenia, Georgia, Bulgaria, and Greece. Ultimately, Iran's strategy aims to establish a transit balance within the Central Asia and Caucasus as part of its broader, balanced foreign policy strategy. The newly elected government of Masoud Pezeshkian is poised to prioritise connectivity diplomacy, raising hopes for accelerating existing connectivity initiatives in neighbouring regions.

Vali Golmohammadi, Ph.D. is Assistant Professor, Tarbiat Modares University, Department of International Relations, Tehran; and visiting scholar at Bilkent University, Ankara.

Endnotes

- 1 Hassan Noorali and Abbas Ahmadi, "Analysis of Iran's Geopolitical Role in International Corridors", *Human Geography Research*, 54, 3 (2022), https://bitly.cx/87zJ8
- 2 Emil Avdaliani, "The Proposed India-Middle East Corridor Is Set to Reshape Eurasian Connectivity, But Challenges Will Persist", *Silk Road Briefing*, November 7, 2023, https://www.silkroadbriefing.com/news/2023/09/11/the-proposed-india-middle-east-corridor-is-set-toreshape-eurasian-connectivity-but-challenges-will-persist
- Vali Golmohammadi and Hamidreza Azizi, "The South Caucasus in the Regionalism of Iran's Foreign Policy", *Central Eurasia Studies*, 15, 1, (2022), 305-281, https://jcep.ut.ac.ir/article_89027. html
- 4 Jahangir Karami and Alireza Karimian. "Islamic Republic of Iran and Central Asia: From Cautious Acting to Active Institutionalism", *Journal of Iran and Central Eurasia Studies*, 6, 1, (2023), 61-71, https://jices.ut.ac.ir/article 95141.html
- Jahangir Karami and Alireza Karimian, "Islamic Republic of Iran and Central Asia: From Cautious Acting to Active Institutionalism", pp. 67-68.
- Vali Golmohammadi and Sergey Markedonov, "How Iran Perceives Turkey's Rise in the South Caucasus", *Russia in Global Affairs*, 22, 1, (2024), 152–175, https://eng.globalaffairs.ru/articles/iran-and-turkeys-rise/
- 7 "Iran's policy in Central Asia is gaining momentum amid the Russian Ukrainian confrontation", Eurasian Rail Alliance Index, October 16, 2023, https://index1520.com/en/analytics/politika-iranav-tsentralnoy-aziinabiraet-oboroty-na-fone-rossiysko-ukrainskogo-protivostoyaniya
- Wilder Alejandro Sánchez, "Could Iran be a Gateway for Central Asia"? *The Diplomat*, June 6, 2024, https://thediplomat.com/2024/06/could-iran-be-a-gateway-for-central-asia/
- 9 "Minister of Roads: Iran-Rah; key to solve regional issues in transit, logistics", *Iran Press News Agency*, June 5, 2023, https://iranpress.com/minister-of-roads--iran-rah-key-to-solve-regional-issues-in-transit--logistics
- 10 ."Iran's Regional Transport Diplomacy", *Tehran Times*, August 2, 2022, https://www.tehrantimes.com/news/475306/Iran-s-Regional-Transport-Diplomacy
- 11 "Iran, Russia, India to promote freight transit through INSTC", *Tehran Times,* July 4, 2023, https://www.tehrantimes.com/news/486469/Iran-Russia-India-to-promote-freight-transit-through-INSTC
- 12 "Minister of Roads: Iran-Rah; key to solve regional issues in transit, logistics"
- "Iranian Roads Minister Highlights Eight Principles of 'Iran-Rah' Initiative for INSTC", Tasnim News Agency, June 4, 2023, https://www.tasnimnews.com/en/news/2023/07/04/2920790/iranian-roads-minister-highlights-eight-principles-of-iran-rah-initiative-for-instc
- "Iran Transport Diplomacy along International Transport Corridors", Ministry of Roads and Urban Development News Agency, February 11, 2024, http://news.mrud.ir/news/104062/Iran-Transport-Diplomacy-along-International-Transport-Corridors
- Vali Kaleji, "Iran and the Role of Transit Corridors in the South Caucasus in the Context of the War against Ukraine", *Caucasus Analytical Digest*, no.132, (2024), 14-20, https://bitly.cx/1xmm

Protecting Europe with Firepower and Democratic Resilience

Sarah Bressan

ive years ago, this author co-wrote a paper that projected a scenario of war and peace in Europe in 2030.¹ Like many others at a time of multiple seemingly frozen conflicts, the analysis focused on the grey zone between clearly defined 'war' and equally unambiguous 'peace'. Even without any large-scale war on the battlefield in Europe between 2020 and 2030, people still experienced insecurity and violence in the scenario, albeit below the threshold of 'war' as universally defined. If political leaders fail to address increasing societal divisions and violence against marginalised groups, that paper argued, Europeans could live in a ubiquitous state of injustice and insecurity.

Five years and a full-scale Russian invasion of Ukraine later, analysts of European security are starting to reckon with their focus on the grey zone and on the non-kinetic aspects of hybrid operations below the threshold of war. Ukrainians are confronted with a brutal land war in the trenches, in which they are fighting for the survival of a European democracy. People across Europe are feeling the ripple effects of this sea-change in the security landscape, unexpectedly having to reshuffle national budgets, diversify energy sources, ramp up defence industry production, and rethink their geopolitical strategies.

In what French President Emmanuel Macron called "the beginning of an illiberal moment," it seems tempting to argue that Europeans need to return to the basics of traditional geopolitics, relearning the language of 'strongman' leaders, and focus on hard power deterrence. However, failures to anticipate and counter the full extent of autocratic aggression have ultimately shown that the traditional state-centric view is misled and the biggest danger to peace remains unchecked political power. The only viable protection against this are strong democratic guardrails. This is why, going forward, Europe needs both firepower and democratic resilience at home and in its neighbourhood.

Zeitenwende Too Late?

Russia's full-scale invasion has required Europe's security establishment to confront past failures. These include not listening to Russia's direct neighbours, which have been exposed to harassment from Moscow and its allies for decades—from cyber-attacks to the weaponisation of migration—and have warned Western European partners to take the Kremlin's threats more seriously.³

A case in point is Germany, which began changing course on its Russia policy after Chancellor Olaf Scholz described the situation as a *Zeitenwende*—an epochal break. Expertise in deciphering Moscow's threats was not missing, but with enough economic interdependence and good will, it was possible to believe that it could stay on good terms with Russia.⁴

More active warnings before 2021 against the immediate threat posed by Russia's military to Ukraine and the European security order could have helped mobilise defence spending, production, and cooperation earlier and deter Russian aggression. Those who warned that the European security

order following the fall of the Berlin Wall was incomplete, had a point: Putin's aggression indicates that one side was unhappy with the deal.⁵

However, traditional state-centric geopolitical analyses did not read the problem with Russia right. Instead, among the German chancellor candidates debating foreign policy before the 2020 federal elections, solely the Green Party candidate—current Foreign Minister Annalena Baerbock—understood the threat of Russia's imperialist project, owing to her party's focus on the most marginalised and directly affected groups within society.⁶ A focus on democracy and human security led her to criticise Germany's short-sighted energy deals with Russia at the expense of ordinary Ukrainians' security.⁷ It is no coincidence that a party that believes in a feminist foreign policy sees the continuities between Putin's chauvinist ideology and his violent oppression of democratic freedom and equality in Ukraine.⁸

While the analytical and political failures of the time are yet to be seriously investigated, the only way forward is one which seriously accounts for the defence against both aspects of hybrid warfare—firepower and grey-zone foreign meddling—that exploit the injustices within democratic societies and weaken Europe's democracies and their security.

Firepower and Democratic Defences

Undoubtedly, Europe needs to produce ammunition, deliver lethal weapons to Ukraine, and replenish its own stockpiles to help Ukraine win the war on the battlefield and in the trenches. Having mobilised over 6 billion euros under the European Peace Facility for Ukraine, the European Union has shown that it is fit to deliver on security. Next steps include making the defence of Europe robust against a future in which the United States may either be ruled by a similar return to archaic times as Russia or constrained by power competition in the Indo-Pacific. 10

Furthermore, Europe cannot neglect the risks that loom in the grey zone, including acts of sabotage and assassination within Europe.¹¹ Energy and communication flows in European countries need to be better protected towards a diversification of energy sources and strategies to mitigate critical dependencies.¹² Intelligence and security services across Europe will need to focus on detecting, exposing, and countering authoritarian interference.¹³

Strengthening and protecting European democracies against dangerous meddling from Russia and other authoritarian powers goes beyond physical infrastructure. European countries need to define the limits of legitimate and illegitimate foreign influence to expose and stop the strategies and narratives that authoritarian regimes are using to instigate societal conflict and discontent to delegitimise democratic defences. So far, the EU has a definition for foreign information manipulation and interference (FIMI), but—in contrast to, for example, Australia—no coherent definition for the broader concept of foreign interference. Similar to strategic dependencies, foreign meddling will need to be better measured, analysed, and persecuted.

Democracy can be exploited when and where it is incomplete and contradicts itself. This is why its ground rules need to be reinvigorated, particularly in online information spaces—by regulating Big Tech companies—and in the peripheries of European countries, where many Europeans vote for anti-democratic parties because they feel the social and economic models that work for elites in big cities do not work for them. Progressive parties all over Europe will need to bridge this divide and provide narratives—or ideological frameworks—that resonate there.

Finally, Europe must also protect its interests by vocally supporting the protection of democracy and freedom elsewhere. This is most urgent in candidate countries for EU accession, from Ukraine to the Western Balkans. ¹⁵ Authoritarians have often weaponised the "foreign meddling" discourse against democrats. However, the "real democrats" are not those who abuse the foreign-agent label for laws that dismantle the rule of law, like in Georgia, or those who open Europe's doors to its enemies, like Hungary's Viktor Orbàn; the real democrats are those who are ready to defend democratic values against chauvinist warmongers around the globe. ¹⁶

Sarah Bressan is Research Fellow, Global Public Policy Institute (GPPi), Berlin.

33

Endnotes

- Sarah Bressan and Mari-Liss Sulg, "Welcome to the grey zone: Future war and peace," *Sage Journals* 28, no. 3, July 13, 2020, https://doi.org/10.1177/2336825X20935244.
- President Emmanuel Macron, "Speech by the President of the Republic on the Occasion of the Conference of Ambassdors," *Elysee*, September 1, 2022, https://www.elysee.fr/emmanuel-macron/2022/09/01/discours-du-president-emmanuel-macron-a-loccasion-de-la-conference-des-ambassadrices-et-des-ambassadeurs.
- Hans Von Der Burchard, "We failed' on Russia: Top German Social Democrat offers mea culpa," *Politico*, October 19, 2022, https://www.politico.eu/article/we-failed-germany-depended-on-russia-social-democrat-said/; "Estonian denial of service incident," *Council on Foreign Relations*, May 2007, https://www.cfr.org/cyber-operations/estonian-denial-service-incident; "How migration became a weapon in a 'hybrid War'," *Financial Times*, December 5, 2021, https://www.ft.com/content/83ece7e4-cc71-45b5-8db7-766066215612; Jakub Przetacznik and Simona Tarpova, *Russia's war on Ukraine: Timeline of cyber-attacks*, European Parliamentary Research Service, June 2022, https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/BRIE/2022/733549/EPRS_BRI(2022)733549_EN.pdf.
- Eva Michaels, "Caught off guard? Evaluating how external experts in Germany warned about Russia's war on Ukraine," *Taylor & Francis* 39, no. 3, April 4, 2024, pp 420-42, https://doi.org/10.1080/02684527.2024.2330133; Jürgen Dahlkamp, Frank Dohmen, Gunther Latsch, Gerald Traufetter and Klaus Wiegrefe, "The Anatomy of Germany's Reliance on Russian Natural Gas," *Spiegel International*, June 29, 2022, https://www.spiegel.de/international/business/anatomy-of-germany-s-reliance-on-russian-natural-gas-decades-of-addiction-a-ad156813-3b24-424f-a51e-3ffbd7b6385c; Von Der Burchard, ""We failed on Russia: Top German Social Democrat offers mea culpa"
- Pierre Vimont, "A new security order for Europe," Foundation *Robert Schuman*, January 23, 2024, https://www.robert-schuman.eu/en/questions-d-europe/733-une-nouvelle-architecture-de-securite-europeenne.
- 6 "MSC debate with Chancellor candidates on the future of German Foreign and security policy," Munich Security Council, January 22, 2021, https://securityconference.org/news/meldung/msc-debatte-kanzlerkandidatinnen-zukunft-deutscher-aussen-und-sicherheitspolitik/.
- Nikolaus J. Kurmayer, "German government row over Nord Stream 2," Euractiv, December 20, 2021, https://www.euractiv.com/section/energy/news/german-government-row-over-nord-stream-2/.
- 8 Sabine Fischer, "Feminist foreign policy is a vital response to the chauvinist aggression of Russia," *IPS Journals*, October 30, 2023, https://www.ips-journal.eu/interviews/feminist-foreign-policy-is-a-vital-response-to-the-chauvinist-aggression-of-russia-7087/
- 9 "European Peace Facility," *European Council: Council of the European Union*, https://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/policies/european-peace-facility/#ukraine
- 10 Christina Kebler, "Indo-Pacific Calling: Where is the US heading and what does it mean for Europe?," Heinrich Boll Stiftung, January 24, 2024, https://www.boell.de/en/2024/01/24/indo-pacific-calling-where-us-heading-and-what-does-it-mean-europe
- Matthias Inverardi, Matthias Williams and Steve Holland, "Germany says it won't be cowed by Russia after reported plot to kill Rheinmetall CEO," *Reuters*, July 13, 2024, https://www.reuters.com/world/europe/germany-says-it-wont-be-cowed-by-russia-after-reported-plot-kill-rheinmetall-ceo-2024-07-12/

- 12 Servet Yanatma, "Europe's 'energy war' in data: How have EU imports changed since Russia's invasion of Ukraine," *Euro news*, February 24, 2023, https://www.euronews.com/green/2023/02/24/europes-energy-war-in-data-how-have-eu-imports-changed-since-russias-invasion-of-ukraine
- "Russia is ramping up sabotage across Europe: The Kremlin believes it is in a shadow war with NATO," *The Economist*, May 12, 2024, https://www.economist.com/europe/2024/05/12/russia-is-ramping-up-sabotage-across-europe.
- Sarah Bressan, Lea Korb, and Philipp Rotmann," The Methodology for threat assessment to be conducted in WP3, 4, and 5," *Reunir,* June 2024, https://reunir-horizon.eu/wp-content/uploads/2024/07/REUNIR-D2.4-THREAT-ASSESSMENT.pdf
- Michael Emerson and Steven Blockmans, *Next steps for EU Enlargement- Forwards or Backwards?*, Stockholm Center For Eastern European Studies, November 23, 2022, https://sceeus.se/en/publications/next-steps-for-eu-enlargement-forwards-or-backwards/
- 16 Bidzina Lebanidze, "Caught in Feckless Politics: Georgia's European Crisis," *Reunir*, https://reunir-horizon.eu/caught-in-feckless-politics-georgias-european-crisis-2/

Gulf States and Economic Opportunities in Central Asia

Jonathan Fulton

Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC) member states-Bahrain, Kuwait, Oman, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, and the United Arab Emirates (UAE)— have transitioned from regionally-focused actors with modest foreign policy goals to global economic actors with more ambitious agendas. Their energy export revenues, for one, have resulted in significant capital holdings, managed by sovereign wealth funds (SWFs) that collectively manage over US\$4.1 trillion in assets across global markets.1 The same wealth has created opportunities for international firms and investors as each GCC state has embarked upon transformational development agendas. Economic statecraft therefore has become an increasingly important foreign policy tool.

That Asia is a focus of the GCC's engagement is well-established. Their primary export markets are China, India, Japan and South Korea; at the same time, companies from these countries have become significant players in Gulf economies. Two-way foreign direct investment (FDI) from the GCC to major Asian economies has seen dramatic growth over the past two decades, a trend that appears set to intensify. Labour flows from Asia to the Gulf are also significant, making remittances from the GCC to Asian countries an important factor as well. This economic engagement is facilitated by increased political cooperation, with a rise in strategic partnerships and economic partnership agreements at the bilateral level and, multilaterally, cooperation in international organisations, forums, and summits.

Less obvious is the growth in ties between the GCC and Central Asian countries—Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan, and Uzbekistan. The two groupings are outside of each other's traditional spheres of interest, with the GCC long oriented toward the larger Middle East—North Africa (MENA) and the Central Asian five (C5) toward the post-Soviet world. Add to this the fact that the C5 markets are relatively small compared with the GCC's key economic partners and the GCC's primary export—energy—is not in short supply for Central Asia.

However, there has been a recent growth in ties with indications of greater momentum. A combination of investment opportunity and strategic objectives explains why the GCC countries are motivated to pursue a larger role in Central Asia.

GCC Economic Outreach to Central Asia

There have been steps toward closer GCC-C5 ties in recent years, facilitated through political mechanisms at the bilateral and multilateral level.

Bilaterally, there has been an increase in the visits of heads of state. In 2022, Uzbeki President Shavkat Mirziyoyev travelled to Jeddah to meet with Saudi Crown Prince Mohammed bin Salman Al Saud, and Kazakh President Kassym-Jomart Tokayev in Abu Dhabi with Emirati President Mohamed bin Zayed Al Nahyan. In June 2023, Qatari Emir Sheikh Tamim bin Hamad Al Thani traveled to Kyrgyzstan to meet with his counterpart, Sadyr Japarov, making him the first Arab leader to visit there.

It is at the multilateral level that has seen a more interesting trend, however, with the establishment of two new forums. In September 2022 the first Central Asia–GCC Joint Ministerial Meeting on Strategic Dialogue was held in Riyadh and the second round was held in Tashkent in April 2024. The Ministerial Meetings were followed by a Central Asia–GCC Summit, with the participation of heads of state. The first was held in Jeddah in July 2023 and the next is scheduled for Samarkand in 2025. Another multilateral forum that offers opportunities for coordination is the Shanghai Cooperation Organisation (SCO). Four of the C5–Turkmenistan is the exception—are founding members of the SCO, and all of the GCC members except Oman are dialogue partners.

This growth in diplomatic engagement is consistent with a broader trend for the C5. Since 2022, their leaders have held summits, virtual or in-person, with India, Russia, Türkiye, China, the United States, and the European Union. Such frequent summitry is unusual for the C5, a development one analyst links to a multi-vector foreign policy meant to maintain good relations with a wide range of powers whose interests in Central Asia do not consistently align.² Their outreach to the GCC seems driven more by economic considerations, however.

For the GCC countries, engagement with Central Asia also seems primarily animated by economic factors. Trade does not explain much at this stage; other than the UAE and Saudi Arabia, there is little in the way of trade between GCC and C5 countries. According to data from the International Monetary Fund, in 2023 the UAE was by far the largest GCC trade partner in Central Asia, with a relatively modest US\$1.26 billion, most of which was divided between Kazakhstan (US\$534 million) and Uzbekistan (US\$444 million). Saudi Arabia was a distant second, with a paltry US\$148 million, and the remaining countries' volume of trade was negligible.³

One sign of potential growth came from a visit to Qatar for President Tokayev in February 2024 in which a proposal was tabled that would increase Qatar-Kazakh trade to US\$500 million.⁴ Trade promotion was emphasised at the 2024 Ministerial Meeting but it is clear that they will be working from a position of low expectations.

There is more positive momentum on investments, with renewable and traditional energy, mining, and food the most prominent or promising sectors. In this domain, Saudi Arabia, the UAE, and Qatar are the most active GCC states.

In terms of renewable energy, Saudi Arabia's ACWA Power and the UAE's Mubadala have been especially active in wind and solar projects in Uzbekistan, with nine major greenfield projects between the two of them since 2018. Emirati state-owned Masdar announced that as of early 2024, it had invested US\$4 billion in Uzbekistan. In late 2022 it signed a deal in Turkmenistan to build a 100-MW PV plant and has since signed an agreement for a PV plant in Kyrgyzstan and an exploratory agreement in Tajikistan to develop clean energy capacity. ACWA has been in talks with Kazakhstan to develop a wind farm. For C5 countries, greater renewable capacity allows them to use gas for higher value exports rather than domestic energy use.

Hydrocarbon and affiliated infrastructure development investment is also taking place, much of it from Qatar. In Kazakhstan, Qatari entities are involved in a gas processing plant and gas pipelines. Qatar also signed an economic and technical feasibility agreement to fund the trans-Afghan railway, which would link Uzbekistan to Pakistani ports. Saudi's Islamic Development Bank has invested \$250 million in Tajikistan's Rogun HPP hydroelectricity power station. The UAE's Dragon Oil opened a regional office in Ashgabat, Turkmenistan in January 2024, with the goal of increasing investments in oil and gas fields.

Mining investment is also growing, linked to the Gulf's ambitions for renewable energy. Central Asia is endowed with many of the minerals and rare-earth elements required for the green energy transition, and Gulf countries, ambitious to shift from fossil-fuel-dominant economies to clean energy, are investing heavily in mining. Saudi Arabia, for example, has identified mining and minerals processing as its third industrial pillar after oil and gas and petrochemicals. Central Asia's significant holdings of manganese ore reserves, chromium, lead, zinc, titanium, aluminium, copper, cobalt, and molybdenum indicate a much larger role for mining in Gulf investment strategies in the C5.

Food security is another emerging sector of Gulf investment. GCC countries import between 70-90 percent of their food, and with supply issues with Ukrainian grain after the Russian invasion, the Gulf has had to diversify sources of imports, which creates another opportunity for GCC-C5 coordination. Qatar signed an investment agreement valued at US\$200 million for a food processing plant and another US\$300 million for a dairy and meat production complex, both in Kazakhstan.⁶ Kazakhstan food imports have also been a focus of the UAE and Saudi Arabia. During President Tokayev's visit to Saudi Arabia for the 2023 summit, an investment for agricultural products agreement

was signed. The UAE, meanwhile, has been discussing with Kazakhstan about establishing a grain shipping route to the GCC via Iranian ports.

All of this demonstrates a significant synergy between the two groups of countries, but the geopolitical level also explains GCC interest in closer ties with C5. As mentioned earlier, Central Asia plays a key role in the SCO, an organisation that Iran joined as a full member in 2023, nearly 20 years after first applying. Iranian membership in a security-oriented organisation presents problems for the GCC, and the possibility of Tehran using its SCO membership to buttress its power and influence is a potential threat. Therefore, GCC engagement with SCO members as well as institutional membership as dialogue partners present opportunities to balance Iran. It is likely that increased economic engagement from the GCC to Central Asia will factor in geopolitical considerations.

Conclusion

While GCC-Central Asia economic cooperation remains modest when measured against the bigger Asian economies, there is clearly synergy between the two groups of states and potential for growth.

Jonathan Fulton is Associate Professor of political science, Zayed University, Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates; and Senior Nonresident Fellow, Atlantic Council.

Endnotes

- 1 "GCC Sovereign Wealth Funds Reach Record \$4.1 Trillion," *Arab Times*, May 20, 2024, https://www.arabtimesonline.com/news/gcc-sovereign-wealth-funds-reach-record-4-1-trillion/
- 2 Gavin Helf, New Central Asian Leaders Look to Balance Relations with Major Powers, United States Institute of Peace, September 28, 2023, https://www.usip.org/publications/2023/09/new-central-asian-leaders-look-balance-relations-major-powers
- International Monetary Fund, 'Direction of Trade Statistics,' continuously updated, https://data.imf.org/?sk=9D6028D4-F14A-464C-A2F2-59B2CD424B85&sld=1515619375491
- Assel Satubaldina, "Kazakh President's Visit to Qatar Reflects Multi-Vector Policy, Fosters Ties Between Central Asia and Gulf Countries," *Astana Times*, February 19, 2024, https://astanatimes.com/2024/02/kazakh-presidents-visit-to-qatar-reflects-multi-vector-policy-fosters-ties-between-central-asia-and-gulf-countries/
- 5 "Saudi's IsDB signs \$150mln financing deal with Tajikistan to boost energy production," *Zawya*, June 11, 2024, https://www.zawya.com/en/business/energy/saudis-isdb-signs-150mln-financing-deal-with-tajikistan-to-boost-energy-production-u0imucgl
- Assem Assanyaz, "Persian Gulf's Qatar Scales up Investments in Kazakhstan," *Astana Times*, February 5, 2024, https://astanatimes.com/2024/02/persian-gulfs-qatar-scales-up-investments-in-kazakhstan/

The Changing Character of War

Raj Shukla

ccording to General Mark recently retired Chairman of the U Joint Chiefs, "we are witnessing some of the most fundamental and profound changes in the character of war, in recorded history."1 For instance, the Ukraine war has led to a nearly simultaneous unfolding of multi-generational combat capacities in cyber, space, missilery, Artificial Intelligence (AI), robotics, and trench warfare. Meanwhile, the squadron and company the hand breaching of minefields, assaults, and the artillery duels remain as salient as the technological sophistication of drone swarms, the Starlink-aided precision-targeting of the Russian Black Sea Fleet in Sevastopol, missile strikes, and nuclear sabre-rattling.

Indeed, the complexity and sophistication of modern deterrence and warfighting can be described as staggering and unprecedented. In this context, the changing nature of deterrence and warfighting can be gauged through five metrics.

1. An elevated view suggests that national security and technology are driving geopolitics like never before. The world seems to be heading towards visible confrontation and conflicts, from Europe to the Western Pacific, and now to West Asia. It is also manifesting in myriad forms—grey-zone, hybrid, proxy, prolonged high-intensity combat, and nuclear sabre-rattling, all at once. Almost all elements of statecraft are being weaponised—economic, supply chain, technological, informational, and cultural.^a Sethuraman Panchanathan, Director of the American Science Foundation, opines that the Foundation is the offensive arm of American defence and national security, the objective being to pursue the frontiers of science to acquire military capacities that allow the United States (US) to maintain its position of global military supremacy.2 However, as the balance of comprehensive national power between the US and China narrows, the absence of a decisive edge and the resultant ambiguity enhances the probability of contestation, if not conflict. Nations are thus bracing for the new reality and re-evaluating the placement of their instruments of force in their strategic calculus. There has been an uptick in defence expenditures; China, for example, despite a slowing economy,3 enhanced its defence spending by 7.2 percent this year.4 The richest cohort in the world, the European Union (EU), for years viewed defence as a wasteful and unproductive endeavour; Angela Merkel believed she could buy peace by indenting Russian oil and gas. Consequently, NATO spent the bare minimum on defence until its defence capacities atrophied enough for it to earn the sobriquet of being "brain dead".5 This has changed following the Ukraine conflict; 18 of the NATO countries are now meeting their 2-percent-of-GDP obligation on defence,6 with talk of raising the floor spending to 3 percent, even as Trump seeks a higher allocation of 4 percent of GDP.8 Poland has elevated its defence spending to 5 percent of GDP,9 and Russia's is now closer to 6 percent.10 Japan's project of re-armament is on the fast track, with a 1,000-strong long-range cruise missile force, and the facilitation of a new three-star US Command Headquarters to finesse joint operational planning. There is also the emergence of war economies and the widespread strengthening of conventional and nuclear postures.

a The algorithmic manipulation of Western opinion by TikTok is a good example.

- 2. Driven by the exigencies of combat, the military applications of niche technologies like AI and robotics are growing rapidly in weekly and monthly evolutionary cycles. It is also clear that militaries that embrace AI and robotics with alacrity and skill will gain overwhelming advantage in combat prowess. Data is now a weapon system in the modern toolkit of all advanced militaries; in this domain, the attack surfaces are growing, the margins for error are shrinking, and decision cycles are shortening. Wise militaries are investing in the triad of data, algorithms, and compute by unlocking data, growing their compute power, training Large Language Models, as well as managing, securing, and leveraging data for superior operational affect. A massive technological swivel, particularly for niche technologies, is pervading deterrence and warfighting. Militaries will need a massive leap of faith to adjust and adapt to the new reality.
- 3. The attributes for the delivery of such technological edge to combat are an ethos of innovation, energy, and enterprise. These attributes, which once characterised the world of business and commerce alone, are now becoming just as salient on the battlefield. Startups and the private sector are powering this change with success. The most active partner of the US SPACECOM today is not NASA, Boeing, or Lockheed, but Elon Musk. Indian startups are powering capacity building in domains as diverse as drones and chips. In Ukraine, Space X has enabled both strategic communications and artillery targeting; Al major Helsing and 250 startups and private companies have impacted every metric of warfighting, from intelligence, surveillance, and firepower, to manoeuvre and logistics. Consequently, no artillery round is being fired without live sighting through a recce drone, legacy dumb bombs have been turned into precision glide bombs, enabling the return of Russian airpower to battle, and blood transfusion is being carried out in the trenches, enabling immediate and lifesaving resuscitation. While iron and steel will continue to be salient, cutting-edge capacities will be increasingly drawn from high-quality data, chips, and sophisticated Large Language Models.
- 4. The quality, resilience, and sustainability of the military-industrial complex, manufacturing capacities, and cold military steel are critical to the warwinning effort. Neglect of what American President Franklin D. Roosevelt described as the "arsenal of democracy"¹¹ can be fatal. In 2004, China's manufacturing capacities, value added, were half that of the US's; today they are twice that of US.¹² China's military-industrial complex, in consequence,

is five to six times more efficient than that of the US.¹³ Even in the case of a prospective fight in Taiwan, the Americans lack seven days of precision missiles and munitions.¹⁴ A week before the decision to surrender in Adviika, an operational audit of two Ukrainian brigades revealed that one had a mere 15 artillery rounds left, the other had 42 mortar rounds.¹⁵ The surrender was made not because Ukrainian soldiers had lost the will to fight, but because the West's military arsenal had begun to run dry.

5. Recent times have been witness to failing American deterrence: in Afghanistan, Ukraine, West Asia, and potentially in the Western Pacific. The most powerful military in the world—a 950-billion-dollar enterprise, with 11 aircraft carriers and 800 military bases worldwide—has proved to be a grand initiator of conflict but a poor finisher. The deterrence paradigm, therefore, needs a serious re-look and perhaps re-structuring. There is a need for nation-states to work towards a coordinated, credible deterrence architecture: deterrence does not happen by accident; the design, planning, and acquisition of credible combat capacities to deter competitors and adversaries is a *sine qua non* for peace.

The aforesaid metrics illustrate how recent transformations in the character of war may yet be the most fundamental and game-changing in recorded history. The challenge for militaries and their associated national security systems is to stay ahead or at least keep pace with the rate of change. It would be fair to surmise that militaries that demonstrate the agility and fleet-footedness to cope with the changing paradigm will drive and lead strategic-military futures. Those that do not do so will continue to react and respond, and therefore lag.

Lt. Gen. Raj Shukla is a former Army Commander, Indian Army, and a strategic affairs expert.

Endnotes

- Brit McCandless Farmer, "AI in the military: Gen. Milley on the future of warfare," CBS News, October 8, 2023, https://www.cbsnews.com/news/artificial-intelligence-in-military-general-mark-milley-future-of-warfare-60-minutes/#:~:text=Advanced%20technologies%20like%20robotics%20 and%20artificial%20intelligence%20will,former%20chairman%20of%20the%20Joint%20 Chiefs%20of%20Staff.
- 2 Center for Strategic and International Studies, "Forging America's Tech Future: The Need for a National Computing Strategy," August 2, 2024, https://www.csis.org/events/forging-americas-techfuture-need-national-computing-strategy
- Where is China's economy headed? World Economic Forum, Jun 27 2024, Where is China's economy headed? | World Economic Forum (weforum.org)
- Gordon Arthur, "China unveils new defense budget, with a 7.2% increase, *Defense News*, Mar 7, 2024, China unveils new defense budget, with a 7.2% increase (defensenews.com)
- NATO alliance experiencing brain death, says Macron, BBC, 8 November2019 Nato alliance experiencing brain death, says Macron (bbc.com)
- Hanna Duggal, How much is each NATO country spending on its military in 2024? The 32 members of the world's most powerful military alliance will spend \$1.47 trillion this year. Al Jazeera, July 11 2024, How much is each NATO country spending on its military in 2024? | NATO News | Al Jazeera
- 7 Polish president Andrzej Duda calls on NATO members to raise defence spending to 3% of GDP, Euronews, March 12 2024
- Demetri Sevastopulo, Michael Peel, and Tobias Buck, Trump presses Nato allies to lift defence spending to 4% of GDP, *Financial Times*, July 12 2018
- 9 Poland to spend 5% of GDP on defence in 2025, says foreign minister, Reuters, July 13, 2024
- 10 Russia Plans Huge Defense Spending Hike in 2024 as War Drags Budget sees defense spending at 6% of GDP *Bloomberg News*, September 22, 2023 The Speech That Set Off the Debate About America's Role in the World By Josh Zeitz, *Politico Magazine*, December 29, 2015
- Niall Ferguson on Cold War II: The Threat of Communist China, By Richard Miller (London) (alor. org)
- 13 China Outpacing U.S. Defense Industrial Base The U.S. and Chinese Defense Industrial Bases in an Era of Great Power Competition, *CSIS Report*, March 06 2024
- 14 Niall Ferguson on Cold War II: The Threat of Communist China, By Richard Miller (London) (alor. org)
- 15 CIA Director Burns on Ukraine: 'We're Running Out of Time to Help Them,' Russia Matters, Harvard Kennedy School, Belfer Centre for Science & International Affairs, April 25, 2024

Is the World Ready for the Next Pandemic?

Wanjiru Munene

he COVID-19 pandemic fundamentally reshaped the global landscape, exposing both the strengths and weaknesses of national and international systems. As the world began to recover, the crucial question remained: Are we prepared for the next pandemic? Using examples from both the Global North and Global South, this article explores the preparedness of the global community across multiple dimensions, including public health infrastructure, international cooperation, technological advancements, societal resilience. It also examines the role of the Global South in paving its own path to resilience amid the dynamics of power disparities with the Global North, particularly in the context of vaccine inequity.

Public Health Infrastructure

The foundation of pandemic preparedness lies in robust public health infrastructure. The COVID-19 pandemic highlighted gaps in healthcare systems worldwide, particularly in low- and middle-income countries. Strengthening healthcare infrastructure is imperative to handle future pandemics effectively.

Investments in health systems need to focus on the following domains:

- 1. Surveillance Systems: Enhanced surveillance systems are critical for early detection and response. The integration of artificial intelligence (AI) and Big Data analytics can improve the monitoring of disease outbreaks and the prediction of potential pandemics.¹ In South Korea, a robust surveillance and contact tracing system enabled rapid containment of COVID-19, while countries like India have been working to upgrade their Integrated Disease Surveillance Programme (IDSP) to better detect and respond to outbreaks.
- 2. Healthcare Workforce: Training and retaining a skilled healthcare workforce is essential. Countries need to ensure that healthcare workers are adequately trained in infectious disease management and pandemic response.² In Rwanda, investment in community health workers has strengthened the healthcare delivery system, providing a model for other low-income countries to emulate.
- 3. Infrastructure and Supplies: Ensuring the availability of necessary medical supplies, including personal protective equipment (PPE), ventilators, and medications, is vital. Building resilient supply chains that can withstand global disruptions is a key component of preparedness.³ The United States, for example, faced significant challenges with PPE shortages early in the COVID-19 pandemic, underscoring the need for domestic production capabilities and diversified supply chains.

International Cooperation

Global pandemics require a coordinated international response. COVID-19 demonstrated the importance of global cooperation and the consequences of its absence. International organisations like the World Health Organization (WHO) play a pivotal role in coordinating responses, sharing information, and providing guidance.

The following are key areas for improvement:

Information Sharing: Transparent and timely sharing of information about disease outbreaks is crucial. Countries must commit to rapid reporting and data sharing to enable a swift global response.⁴ China's initial delays in reporting COVID-19 cases highlight the need for stronger international agreements and compliance mechanisms.

Equitable Access to Resources: Ensuring equitable access to vaccines, treatments, and other critical resources is essential for a fair and effective global response. Mechanisms like the COVAX facility aim to address this issue, but more robust frameworks are needed.⁵ The stark contrast in vaccine access between wealthy nations and countries in Africa and South Asia underscores this urgent need.

Joint Research and Development: Collaborative research efforts can accelerate the development of diagnostics, treatments, and vaccines. International partnerships and funding mechanisms should be strengthened to support these initiatives.⁶ The collaboration between Oxford University and AstraZeneca in developing a COVID-19 vaccine exemplifies the benefits of such partnerships.

Technological Advancements

Technological innovations have the potential to revolutionise pandemic preparedness and response. The rapid development of COVID-19 vaccines showcased the power of modern biotechnology and collaboration.

Emerging technologies can enhance preparedness in a number of ways:

- 1. Vaccine Platforms: Advances in vaccine technology, such as mRNA vaccines, have proven to be game-changers. Continued investment in these platforms can expedite the development of vaccines for future pandemics.⁷ The success of Pfizer-BioNTech and Moderna's mRNA vaccines demonstrates the potential of these platforms.
- 2. Diagnostics and Surveillance: Improved diagnostic tools, including pointof-care tests and genomic sequencing, can facilitate early detection and tracking of pathogens. Integrating these tools into public health systems

- can enhance response capabilities.⁸ The use of genomic sequencing in the United Kingdom to track and identify new COVID-19 variants has been instrumental in informing public health responses.
- 3. Telemedicine and Digital Health: The pandemic accelerated the adoption of telemedicine and digital health solutions. These technologies can improve access to healthcare, especially in remote and underserved areas, and support ongoing care during outbreaks.⁹ In Nigeria, digital health platforms have been crucial in continuing healthcare delivery during lockdowns.

Societal Resilience

Building societal resilience is crucial for mitigating the impact of pandemics. This involves fostering community engagement, addressing social determinants of health, and promoting mental health and well-being.

Strategies to enhance societal resilience include:

- 1. Community Engagement: Engaging communities in preparedness efforts can improve public trust and compliance with health measures. Community-based approaches can also help identify and address local needs and vulnerabilities.¹⁰ In Senegal and other low- and middle-income countries across Africa and Asia, community health workers play a vital role in public health campaigns, enhancing community trust and cooperation.
- 2. Addressing Inequalities: Pandemics disproportionately affect marginalised and vulnerable populations. Addressing social determinants of health, such as poverty, education, and housing, is essential for reducing health disparities and building resilience. In the United States, the disproportionate impact of COVID-19 on communities of colour highlights the need for addressing systemic inequalities.
- **3. Mental Health Support:** The psychological impact of pandemics can be profound. Providing mental health support and promoting psychosocial well-being are critical components of a comprehensive response.¹² Initiatives in countries like India and Brazil have shown the importance of integrating mental health services into primary healthcare.

The Role of the Global South

The dynamics of global power disparities, particularly evident through vaccine inequity, highlight the need for the Global South to chart its own path

towards resilience. This involves leveraging local knowledge, fostering regional cooperation, and building self-reliance.

- 1. Leveraging Local Knowledge: Countries in the Global South have unique insights and experiences that can inform effective strategies. For instance, the experience of West African countries with Ebola in the 2010s has provided valuable lessons in managing infectious diseases.¹³
- 2. Fostering Regional Cooperation: Regional cooperation can enhance collective preparedness and response capabilities. The African Union's Africa Centres for Disease Control and Prevention (Africa CDC) is a prime example of regional efforts to improve health security.¹⁴
- 3. Building Self-Reliance: Reducing dependency on the Global North by developing local manufacturing capabilities for medical supplies and pharmaceuticals is crucial. India's pharmaceutical industry and South Africa's initiatives to produce COVID-19 vaccines locally illustrate the importance of self-reliance.¹⁵

Conclusion

The question is no longer if a next pandemic will happen, but when. While progress has been made in response to the consequences of COVID-19, much work remains to be done. By strengthening public health infrastructure, enhancing international cooperation, leveraging technological advancements, and building societal resilience, the world can be better prepared to face future pandemics. The Global South must also play a proactive role in charting its path to resilience, leveraging local strengths, and fostering regional cooperation. It is a collective responsibility that requires sustained commitment, investment, and collaboration at all levels.

Dr. Wanjiru Munene is a healthcare access and social equity advocate from Kenya who leads and executes global and public health programmes on innovation, data-driven planning, policy, and strategic partnerships. She is a pharmacist and has an MBA in Healthcare Management.

Endnotes

- 1 C. Rivers et al., "Using 'Big Data' to Enhance the Next Pandemic Response," *Nature Biotechnology*, 2019.
- World Health Organization, *Training and Retaining a Skilled Healthcare Workforce: Ensuring Adequate Training in Infectious Disease Management and Pandemic Response*, Geneva, World Health Organization, 2020.
- A. Baciu et al., *The Future of Nursing 2020-2030: Charting a Path to Achieve Health Equity* (National Academies Press, 2021).
- 4 R. Katz et al., "Enhancing Public Health Emergency Preparedness for Special Populations," Health Security, 2018.
- 5 UNICEF, "COVAX: Ensuring Global Equitable Access to COVID-19 Vaccines," 2020, https://www.unicef.org/supply/covax-ensuring-global-equitable-access-covid-19-vaccines.
- 6 L. Zhang et al., "Collaborative Efforts for COVID-19 Vaccine Development," Science, 2020.
- Norbert Pardi et al., "mRNA Vaccines A New Era in Vaccinology," *Nature*, January 12, 2018, https://www.nature.com/articles/nrd.2017.243.
- 8 Giorgia Guglielmi, "Fast Coronavirus Tests: What They Can and Can't Do," *Nature*, September 16, 2020, https://www.nature.com/articles/d41586-020-02661-2.
- 9 Paul Webster, "Virtual Health Care in the Era of COVID-19," *The Lancet*, April 11, 2020, https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(20)30818-7/fulltext.
- 10 R. B. Patel et al., "Community-Based Health Interventions in Resource-Limited Settings," *Global Health Action*, 2017.
- 11 Michael Marmot et al., "Social Determinants of Health and Health Inequalities," The Lancet, 2020.
- 12 Emily A. Holmes et al., "Multidisciplinary Research Priorities for the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Call for Action for Mental Health Science," *The Lancet Psychiatry* 7, no. 6 (June 2020), https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lanpsy/article/PIIS2215-0366(20)30168-1/fulltext.
- 13 Vinh-Kim Nguyen et al., *Epidemics: Science, Governance, and Social Justice* (Cambridge: Polity Press, 2021).
- J. N. Nkengasong, "The Africa Centres for Disease Control and Prevention: A Paradigm Shift to Strengthen Global Health Security," *The Lancet*, 2020.
- 15 P. Chatterjee, "India's COVID-19 Vaccine Production," *The Lancet*, 2021.

The Cost of a Climate Transition on Women

Karuna Kumar

relationship ■he between women's economic empowerment green growth is inextricable and tense. A growing concern in the climate transition agenda is its impact on women's employment and livelihood generation. Any transition towards green growth will reduce the share of women in employment, with employment gains made through such a transition benefiting mostly maledominated industries such as renewable energy, manufacturing, and construction.1 This is largely a result of women still being overrepresented in the lowest paid and informal jobs, and having limited access to social protection.^{2,3} A climate transition will disproportionately affect women and their livelihoods, and the trade-offs need to be explicitly addressed to prevent women from falling into poverty amid rising energy prices, the collapse of sectors they work in, and inaccessible new job opportunities.⁴

A gender-inclusive green growth economy will need to simultaneously target gender equality, environmental sustainability, and economic growth. In 2018, the Asian Development Bank (ADB) established a new benchmark to help countries assess their quality of growth and put into motion the ADB Inclusive Green Growth Index, which measures 28 indicators organised around three pillars: sustainability of economic growth, the economic participation in society of a broad range of people including women, and environmental impacts.⁵ While the index focuses on the three pillars of green growth independently, their linkages are not clearly established.

The Lima Work Programme on Gender and Gender Action Plan is the main instrument currently in place to achieve gender-responsive climate policy and action, and has been the main driver integrating gender equality ambitions into nationally determined contributions and national adaptation plans.⁶ However, large gaps in evidence, discriminatory social norms, lack of financial support, weak capacity of government officials and stakeholders, and a lack of resources, persist.⁷

Multiple factors make a just climate transition for women challenging, including limited ownership of assets, constraints to livelihood generation, and strict gender norms. Land is the most important economic resource, particularly in low- and middle-income agriculture-based economies. While women play a critical role in agricultural operations, they have limited access to and control over land. When women do own land, the area of their plots is either smaller or the quality inferior than land owned by men.^{8,9} Globally, the share of women agricultural landholders is less than 15 percent.¹⁰ Without ownership of physical assets that can be used as collateral, women are less likely to own a bank account or have access to credit. Additional barriers such as lower level of digital access for mobile money payments further limit women's access to finance.¹¹

In developing countries, 92 percent of women are informally employed, and in a majority of countries worldwide, the percentage of women workers in informal employment exceeds the percentage of men workers in those sector. ¹² Informal jobs are lower paid and at greater risk during climate shocks as well as in the transition to 'net zero'. Women also earn less than men and are underrepresented in occupations and sectors in the green economy. ^{13,14}

Potential new jobs in the green sector will need highly skilled workers, and women currently hold the majority of low-paid and low-skilled jobs; therefore, they are less likely to be hired. Without policy interventions, the energy transition will create more employment opportunities for men than for women.¹⁵

Additionally, social norms that limit women's mobility, time, and voice isolate them into domestic roles, burden them with rising care responsibilities and declining food and water security, even as men increasingly migrate to places with better prospects. Furthermore, during climate shocks, as social controls and protections are disrupted, women and children face greater risk of experiencing gender-based violence. To

Continued inaction will worsen the impacts of climate change on women, leading to increased poverty, displacement, and loss of life and livelihoods. At the 28th United Nations Climate Change Conference COP28, 68 countries signed a new Gender-Responsive Just Transitions and Climate Action Partnership to mobilise action around three core pillars: better quality data to support decision-making in transition planning; more effective finance flows to regions most impacted by climate change; and education, skills, and capacity building to support individual engagement in transitions. While the partnership sets the direction and showcases intent, breaking the cycle of preexisting inequalities would require urgent collective action from governments, businesses, and civil society.

The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development and the UNFCC Gender Action Plan emphasise the relationship between green growth and women's economic empowerment, highlighting the need for macroeconomic frameworks supporting green growth to address the constraints to women's economic empowerment.^{20,21} While the right approach to implementing gender-sensitive green growth strategies will depend on the economy and the gender context, there are varied economic risks and vulnerabilities that will need to be integrated into programming and policy formulation.²²

Building inclusive tax systems and addressing gender biases in tax policies can influence women's decisions to engage in paid work, including in green sectors, which can reduce the reliance on informal working and break the gendered occupational segregation.²³ Additionally, gender-responsive climate investments can generate revenues and spread risk through diversified portfolios for investors, drive value addition, and amplify gender impact.²⁴

Globally, only a negligible number of green bonds have gender as their priority objective.²⁵ Integrating a gender component in bond frameworks in the form of gender analyses, gender action plans, and mandatory reporting requirements would help improve the adoption and implementation of gender integration into climate investments.²⁶

Furthermore, a debt-restructuring agenda that both addresses gender concerns and supports climate investments, especially among developing countries with unsustainable debt burdens, would be a step towards a just climate transition. This would include a greater focus on progressive taxation that facilitates spending on healthcare and education and helps ensure that women workers receive living wages that allow for universal access to food and nutrition. Promoting gender equality within rapidly growing carbon markets is also necessary.²⁷ As the demand for expensive higher-integrity carbon credits that meet robust environmental and social standards rises, there is an opportunity to integrate gender with clear guidance and examples for how project developers could label projects as 'gender inclusive'.

Increasing training services to help upskill women workers and reskill them for a transition to green jobs while mobilising employment programmes that can connect women workers to jobs in emerging green sectors is also gaining momentum.²⁸

Close attention must be drawn towards evidence that women's leadership and participation improves climate action. A study of 159 global companies identified by the Climate Action 100+ initiative as the largest corporate greenhouse gas (GHG) emitters found that firms with more gender-diverse boards performed much better in eight out of nine climate indicators.²⁹ They were also seen twice as likely to develop a decarbonisation strategy and 25 percent more likely to have medium- and long-term GHG reduction targets, in addition to having greater potential for allocating future capital aligned to these targets. Despite this, between 2009 and 2021, the proportion of women delegates at COP meetings rose only from 30 percent to 38 percent, and the proportion of female Heads of Delegation only increased from 10 percent to 13 percent.³⁰

The Global Green Skills Report 2023, a study undertaken by LinkedIn across 48 countries, reveals that the green talent pool is 66 percent male; nine in ten women lack any green skills; and the green skills gender gap has grown by 25 percent in the past seven years.³¹ In the renewable energy industry,

women make up 34 percent of workers, while in other industries, this rises to 44 percent—a gap of 10 percentage points. To close the gap, women will need to join the talent pool at 2.5 times the current ratio.

As the gender-climate nexus continues to gain prominence in the areas of policy, programming, and climate finance, any meaningful progress will rely on enhancing women's leadership and participation in climate action and decision-making, increasing their access to green jobs and skills, providing adaptive social safety nets and livelihood diversification, investing in resilience and disaster risk reduction, and addressing social norms.

Karuna Kumar is founder of the knowledge platform, The FEM Network, providing insight and foresight on sustainable development through a gender-inclusive lens.

Endnotes

- 1 International Labour Organisation, *World Employment and Social Outlook 2018: Greening with jobs,* May 14, Geneva, 2018, https://www.ilo.org/publications/world-employment-and-social-outlook-2018-greening-jobs.
- Deborah Livingstone and Olivia Jenkins, Women's Economic Empowerment and Climate Change: A primer Work and Opportunities for Women, UK, April 2021, https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/980912/Guidance3-WEE-Climate-Change-Primer.pdf
- International Labour Organisation, *Just Transition Policy Brief*, January 2023, Geneva, ILO, 2023, https://www.ilo.org/publications/social-protection-just-transition
- 4 Stefan Dercon, *Is green growth good for the poor,* October 2012, Washington DC, World Bank Group, 2012, https://documents.worldbank.org/en/publication/documents-reports/documentdetail/768081468179356671/is-green-growth-good-for-the-poor
- 5 Sikha Jha, Sonia Chand Sandhu, and Radtasiri Wachirapunyanont, *Inclusive Green Growth Index:*A New Benchmark For Quality of Growth, Manila, Asian Development Bank, October 2018, https://www.adb.org/publications/inclusive-green-growth-index
- The United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, *The Enhanced Lima work on Gender and its Gender Action Plan*, December 2019, UNFCC, 2019, https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/cp2019_L03E.pdf
- Deborah Livingstone and Olivia Jenkins, Women's Economic Empowerment and Climate Change: An Update to the WOW Targeted Guidance 3 Primer, Work and Opportunities for Women Helpdesk, UK, June 2023, https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/65b2416af2718c000dfb1d37/WOW_Helpdesk_Query_81_Update_to_Targeted_Guidance_3_WEE_Primer.pdf
- 8 "Women's Economic Empowerment and Climate Change: A primer Work and Opportunities for Women"
- 9 Charu Jain, Disha Saxena, Somnath Sen and Deepak Sanan, "Women's land ownership in India: Evidence from digital land records," *Science Direct* 133 (2023), https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0264837723003010
- 10 Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, *The Gender Gaps in Land Rights*, 2018, http://www.fao.org/3/i8796en/I8796EN.pdf
- 11 Deborah Livingstone, Olivia Jenkins and Isabelle Cardinal, *Women's Economic Empowerment* and Climate Change: A Primer. WOW Helpdesk Guidance Note No. 3, UK Aid, 2021, https://genderclimatetracker.org/resource/22466
- 12 Florence Bonnet, Joann Vanek and Martha Chen, *Women and Men in the Informal Economy:*A Statistical Brief, January 2019, Women in Informal Employment: Globalizing and Organizing (WIEGO), 2019, https://www.wiego.org/publications/women-and-men-informal-economy-statistical-brief
- 13 "Women's Economic Empowerment and Climate Change: A Primer".
- 14 International Renewable Energy Agency, *World Energy Transitions Outlook 2023: 1.5°C Pathway*, International Renewable Energy Agency, 2023, https://www.irena.org/-/media/Files/IRENA/Agency/Publication/2023/Jun/IRENA_World_energy_transitions_outlook_2023.pdf
- 15 "World Energy Transitions Outlook, 2023"

- International Labour Organization, *Skills for a greener future: a global view*, December 2019, ILO, 2019, https://www.ilo.org/publications/skills-greener-future-global-view
- 17 Abigail Hunt and Emma Samman, *Women's economic empowerment: navigating enablers and constraints*, September 2016, Overseas Development Institute, 2016, https://odi.org/en/publications/womens-economic-empowerment-navigating-enablers-and-constraints/
- Amelia Goh, *A literature review of the gender-differentiated impacts of climate change on women's and men's assets and well-being in developing countries*, 2012, https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/A-literature-review-of-the-gender-differentiated-of-Goh/e9eb8fa2a580f024da87fb09b201a79a9f813734
- 19 UN Women, *Progress of the world's women 2015–2016: Transforming economies, realizing rights*, UN Women, 2015, https://www.unwomen.org/en/digital-library/publications/2015/4/progress-of-the-worlds-women-2015#:~:text=%E2%80%9CProgress%20of%20the%20world's%20 women.into%20a%20'man's%20world
- 20 Conference of Parties 28, *Gender-Responsive Just Transitions and Climate Action Partnership*, December 2023, COP 28, UAE, 2023, https://www.cop28.com/en/cop28-gender-responsive-just-transitions-and-climate-action-partnership
- 21 United Nations, *Transforming our world: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development*, 2016, https://sdgs.un.org/2030agenda
- The United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, *The Gender Action Plan*, December 2019, UNFCC, 2019, https://unfccc.int/topics/gender/the-big-picture/introduction-togender-and-climate-change/the-gender-action-plan-1
- 23 Katherine Miles, *Gender-responsive Green Growth*, August 2019, Donor Committee for Enterprise Development, 2019, https://www.enterprise-development.org/an-introduction-to-gender-responsive-green-growth/
- 24 "Gender-responsive Green Growth"
- European Investment Bank, *Gender-smart Climate Finance: Unlocking an inclusive and sustainable future*, November 2021, EIB, 2021, https://www.eib.org/en/events/gender-smart-climate-finance-cop26
- Asian Development Bank, *Gender Bonds: From incidental to centre stage*, February 2023, ADB, 2023, https://www.adb.org/publications/gender-bonds-incidental-center-stage
- 27 David Uzsoki and Safa Rahim, *Integrating gender considerations in green bonds*, International Institute for Sustainable Development, October 2021, IISD, 2021, https://www.iisd.org/publications/brief/integrating-gender-considerations-green-bonds
- 28 The Association of South East Asian Nations, *Integrating a Gender Lens in Voluntary Carbon Markets Volume 1*, ASEAN, 2022, https://www.wocan.org/resource/integrating-a-gender-lens-in-voluntary-carbon-markets/
- World Bank Group, *Climate Change Action Plan 2021 2025*, World Bank Group, 2021, https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/entities/publication/ee8a5cd7-ed72-542d-918b-d72e07f96c79
- 30 Investor Group on Climate Change, The Latest Company Assessments From Climate Action 100+, October 2022, IGCC, 2022, https://igcc.org.au/the-latest-company-assessment-fromclimate-action-100/
- 31 LinkedIn, *Global Green Skills Report 2023*, LinkedIn, 2023, https://economicgraph.linkedin.com/research/global-green-skills-report

The Regional Security Architecture of the Asia-Pacific at the Crossroads

Rouben Azizian

he term 'regional security architecture' frequently appears in academic and official discourse, yet its meaning is often interpreted in different ways. Some view it narrowly, focusing on great-power relations, while others see it merely as a collection of multilateral organisations. Neither interpretation provides a full understanding of the complex nature and comprehensive purpose of the regional architecture. A more appropriate definition would describe it as a network of institutions, mechanisms, norms, and processes aimed at fostering regional security and stability.1 The regional security architecture and its coherence reflect the state of security affairs in the region. At the same time, "a strong regional architecture can bring to bear incentives for cooperation and disincentives for provocation and problematic behaviors."2

The development of regional security architecture in the Asia-Pacific is particularly significant due to the presence of several security hotspots. These include maritime disputes between states bordering the South China Sea and the East China Sea; the Taiwan conflict; and the India-China border dispute.³ It is the growing maritime nature of the regional security environment and increased major-power rivalry that have led to the more frequent use of the term "Indo-Pacific". This term, preferred by the United States and its Western partners, carries a stronger strategic connotation and has a somewhat divisive effect. While the expert community often uses "Asia-Pacific" and "Indo-Pacific" interchangeably, the official choice of terminology usually reflects a country's position in the US-China rivalry and its associated rhetoric.

Following the end of the Cold War in the early 1990s, the Asia-Pacific security environment was marked by the emergence of a distinctive security architecture comprising both the extensive bilateral security alliances forged by the US to manage its containment policy in the Cold War, as well as a set of new multilateral mechanisms and institutions. These arrangements combined liberal and realist approaches to managing the region's changing environment.⁴ The primary focus of the region's security architecture was on non-traditional and non-military security challenges, such as transnational crime, terrorism, natural disasters and economic and environmental security. The Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN) gradually assumed the central role in building trust and enhancing dialogue in the region.

ASEAN's greatest assets have been its institutions. The ARF (ASEAN Regional Forum), ASEAN Plus Three (APT), East Asian Summit (EAS), and economic frameworks such as ASEAN Economic Community (AEC) and the Regional Comprehensive Economic Partnership (RCEP) have served as pillars of regional security, stability, and prosperity. Despite their informal nature, these arrangements continue to build trust and confidence and enhance relations among regional states—the foundations of the ASEAN approach to regional peace and security.⁵ In the 1990s and early 2000s, the Asia-Pacific's security architecture demonstrated a promising coherence of multilateral and bilateral partnerships and adherence to ASEAN led normative trust-building and preventive diplomacy.

Although the notion of ASEAN centrality continues to be part of the lexicon of regionalism and multilateralism in the region, there are concerns about the ASEAN's ability to maintain this status in a significantly different Indo-Pacific

region. These concerns arise from several factors: (1) heightened power competition between the US and China; (2) China's increasingly unilateral and somewhat aggressive behaviour in the South China; and (3) fraying unity within ASEAN members.⁶

In recent years, China has increasingly challenged US dominance in the region, including its role in the regional architecture. China is promoting a security architecture that is more exclusively "Asian," more attendant to its domestic security concerns, less liberal, and solidly rooted in Chinese economic power. China aims to establish a security architecture where the United States and other countries it considers "external" to the region have a limited role. It calls for a security architecture that explicitly rejects treaty alliances as a legitimate organizing structure. Finally, China is interested in a security architecture more closely integrated with the Asian economic order. One of the ways in which China is pursuing this goal is by strengthening an alternative set of "Asian" institutions where the United States does not play a role. These include the Shanghai Cooperation Organisation (SCO) and the Conference on Interaction and Confidence Building in Asia (CICA), as well as two ASEAN-based mechanisms: the ASEAN+3 dialogue (ASEAN, China, Japan, South Korea) and the ASEAN-China (10+1) dialogue channel.8

Since former President Barack Obama's pivot to the Asia-Pacific and President former President Donald Trump's assertive response to China's rise, the United States has increased its focus on the region's security architecture. The US is countering China's exclusive "Asianist" approach to the regional security architecture with an effort to enhance the existing mechanisms and build new ones with "like-minded" partners who share democratic values and concerns about China's rise and regional behaviour. The US-led Five Eyes intelligence community has become unusually vocal about domestic issues in China, such as the treatment of Uyghur ethnic minority. The emergence of new minilaterals in the region between the Unites States and its allies and close partners, such as QUAD and AUKUS, is another feature and trend in the evolution of the regional architecture.

As part of public diplomacy, the QUAD as well as other minilaterals often present themselves as groupings that are not directed against any country. However, the China factor is significant in their strategic calculations, and their primary goals are to deter China's unilateral actions in the region. The US-China rivalry has also had an impact on the regional economic architecture,

with China leading the Regional Comprehensive Economic Partnership (RCEP) while the US-has come up with an alternative Indo-Pacific Economic Framework for Prosperity (IPEF).⁹

Given the declining mutual trust between major powers and the epidemic of nationalism in some countries, uncertainties in the development of the Asia-Pacific region are constantly increasing.¹⁰ There is a possibility that these trends could signal the end of post-Cold War security multilateralism in Asia. The casting aside of the more inclusive forms of security cooperation, and the focus on exclusive mechanisms which are intended to shape great-power competition and not to prevent it, could lead to more confrontation in the region.¹¹

There are, however, more optimistic views about the new trends in the regional security architecture. Some commentators believe that ASEAN, the QUAD and AUKUS are the pillars on which Indo-Pacific security will rest in the coming decades. ASEAN serves as a norm-builder, the QUAD functions as a problem-solver, and AUKUS acts as a deterrent to military conflict. ASEAN's annual meetings of leaders, foreign ministers, and defence chiefs are a foundation of inclusive diplomacy and cooperation. The informal QUAD dialogue among the United States, Japan, India and Australia would promote broader rules-based order while the Australia-United Kingdom-United States (AUKUS) pact promises leading-edge defensive technology necessary to maintain a military balance of power.¹²

Similar to the evolving QUAD Plus format, AUKUS could address the needs of the Indo-Pacific region by building a broader cohesive grouping of key regional actors like India, Japan, and South Korea through forums, dialogues, and bilateral or multilateral sharing of information. These "Plus" partnerships could supplement diplomatically the AUKUS' military focus.¹³

The solidification of the QUAD and the creation of AUKUS demonstrate both continuity and change in the regional order. These multilateral bodies are emblematic of Asia-Pacific's new security architecture, where minilateralism can either reinforce or undermine both bilateral relations and the multilateral institutions centred on ASEAN.¹⁴ The evolution of the great-power rivalry in the region will be a significant factor in determining how this architecture unfolds. Middle and small powers that have perhaps a higher stake in preserving a coherent and complementary form of regionalism, could exercise



Endnotes

- Mark G. Rolls, "New Zealand and the Regional Security Architecture of the Asia-Pacific," *Dans Outre-Terre 2020/1-2 (N° 58-59), pages 97 à 106,* https://www.cairn.info/revue-outre-terre-2020-1-page-97.htm
- 2 Hillary Rodham Clinton, Secretary of State, *Forrestal Lecture at the Naval Academy*, April 10, 2012, https://2009-2017.state.gov/secretary/20092013clinton/rm/2012/04/187693.htm
- Felix Heiduk, "Security in the Indo-Pacific: The Asianisation of the regional security architecture," German Institute for International and Security Affairs, SWP Research Paper no.11, November 2022, Berlin, https://www.swp-berlin.org/publications/products/research_papers/2022RP11_ Security_Indo-Pacific.pdf
- 4 Nick Bisley, "Asia's Regional Security Architecture: An Australian Perspective," ISEAS, 2022/49, May 10, 2022, https://www.iseas.edu.sg/articles-commentaries/iseas-perspective/2022-49-asias-regional-security-architecture-an-australian-perspective-by-nick-bisley
- Mely Caballero-Anthony, "The ASEAN way and the changing security environment: navigating challenges to informality and centrality," *International Politics*, June 11, 2022, https://link.springer.com/article/10.1057/s41311-022-00400-0#Sec10
- 6 Caballero-Anthony, "The ASEAN way and the changing security environment: navigating challenges to informality and centrality"
- Lindsey W. Ford, "Network Power: China's Effort To Reshape Asia's Regional Security Architecture," *Brookings*, September 2020, https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/FP_20200914_china_network_power_ford.pdf
- 8 Ford, "Network Power: China's Effort To Reshape Asia's Regional Security Architecture"
- 9 Monish Tourangbam, "A Crowded Affair: Indo-Pacific's Evolving Security Architecture and Delhi's Path," *Asian Confluence*, May 27,2024, https://www.asianconfluence.org/publication-details-full/acrowded-affair-indo-pacific-s-evolving-security-architecture-and-delhi-s-path
- 10 Ren Yuanzhe, "Competitive Regional Security Architecture and the Value of ASEM," *The Asia-Europe Meeting (ASEM), 2020*, https://www.kas.de/documents/264850/7057229/
 Article+10+Competitive+Regional+Security.pdf/3b421ed0-e9e5-0a83-63b5-57e11460f511?version =1.0&t=1568275707566
- 11 Bisley, "Asia's Regional Security Architecture Perspective"
- Patrick M. Cronin, "The 3 Pillars of Asia's New Security Architecture, "The Straits Times, October 2, 2021, https://www.hudson.org/foreign-policy/the-3-pillars-of-asia-s-new-security-architecture
- Jagannath Panda, "Is 'AUKUS Plus' a Viable Option?," *The Diplomat*, January 26, 2022, https://thediplomat.com/2022/01/is-aukus-plus-a-viable-option/
- 14 Cronin, "The 3 Pillars of Asia's New Security Architecture"

India-Armenia Partnership: Onward to the Next Phase

Reena Pandey

ndia and Armenia share a rich history spanning over two millennia, comprising trade and cultural exchanges facilitated by the Silk Road. During this period, Armenian merchants established trading posts in India. Subsequently, Armenian settlements arose in different Indian cities, such as Kolkata, Chennai, Agra, and Surat. The enduring legacy of these connections is reflected in contemporary India-Armenia relations.

Armenia became an independent nation in 1991; in 2021, India and Armenia marked the 30th anniversary of the establishment of diplomatic relations. This next phase of the Indo-Armenian partnership allows the opportunity to harness a shared history to foster greater economic cooperation, cultural exchange, and diplomatic collaboration to propel the partnership to new heights and ensure mutual prosperity and stability in the region.

The bilateral relations between the two countries are marked by mutual respect and support on international platforms. They share similar views on various global issues, including peace, security, and development. High-level visits and dialogues facilitate the exchange of views on international and regional issues, contributing to a stable and constructive relationship.

With Armenia's strategic location in the South Caucasus and India's growing influence in global affairs, there is potential for enhancing bilateral trade. Economic relations are growing, albeit at a modest pace. The growth in bilateral trade in the last five years has been encouraging. India exports pharmaceutical products, machinery, and textiles to Armenia and imports precious metals and minerals. There are also several agreements aimed at boosting bilateral trade and investment.¹ Indian investments in Armenia are estimated to be between US\$50 and US\$100 million.² Armenian-American investments, particularly in the IT sector, are growing in India, especially in cities such as Bengaluru and Delhi-NCR. The technological synergy of Armenia's hi-tech industry and India's established ICT sector could be jointly exploited in emerging domains like Artificial Intelligence (AI), blockchain technology, and the Internet of Things (IoT).

However, there are challenges to economic ties, including the lack of connectivity, existing geopolitical tensions, and regional instability. The geographical distance and the number of countries separating India and Armenia limit direct road connectivity. The main route would involve transit through Iran, Azerbaijan, and Georgia. Overland connectivity could be increased by improving regional cooperation and agreements on transit routes.

Improving connectivity between India and Armenia requires multifaceted efforts and regional cooperation. The International North-South Transport Corridor (INSTC)—a multimodal project involving India, Russia, and Iran—has the potential to increase connectivity. Maritime trade can be facilitated by ports in neighbouring countries such as Iran and Georgia. The Chabahar port in Iran, developed with Indian assistance, could provide a strategic gateway for Indian commodities to reach Armenia. There is also an Armenian proposal for an alternate Persian Gulf-Black Sea port corridor.³

Currently, there is no direct air connectivity between India and Armenia. Establishing direct links between Delhi and Yerevan could reduce travel time and promote tourism, business, and cultural exchanges. Talks are ongoing between the two sides, and there is hope of concrete action regarding air connectivity.

Tourism from India to Armenia has increased.⁴ As of 2024, there are around 3,000 Indian students in Armenia, most of them studying medicine.⁵ There is also the presence of a sizeable Indian migrant labour in Armenia.⁶ Defence ties have increased since 2020, and Armenia is importing defence material from India.⁷

Therefore, there has been an evolution of India-Armenia relations, and today they encompass cultural links and potential strategic collaboration. Strategic steps need to be taken in order to take this development further and build upon existing foundations to address mutual interests.

Defence and Security Cooperation

Defence ties could be strengthened through joint military exercises, regular training programmes, tactical exchanges, intelligence sharing, strategic training, and collaboration on counterterrorism measures. At the same time, sharing of best practices will bolster preparedness and enhance operational coordination. The joint development of advanced military hardware could be a useful area for cooperation. India and Armenia could also work together in ensuring a safe and secure cyberspace.

Trade and Economic Cooperation

Both countries should enter comprehensive trade agreements to reduce tariffs and trade barriers and facilitate easier and cost-effective exchange of goods and services. They should encourage investments through joint ventures and partnerships. The promotion of cultural and educational exchanges would help build stronger people-to-people ties, which can support business relationships. By engaging in regular high-level government dialogues and establishing joint committees to identify and resolve trade issues, a favourable business environment can be created. This would be mutually beneficial to provide financial training and resources to Small and Medium sized Enterprises (SMEs) in both countries to enable them to enter and work in each other's markets.

Pharmaceutical and Healthcare

India is a global leader in generic drug manufacturing and can help set up local manufacturing units in Armenia. Technology-transfer agreements could help in upgrading Armenia's manufacturing capabilities. Industry on both sides

should work towards harmonising regulatory standards to make exports to Armenia easier. India's expertise in digital health and telemedicine could be further expanded in Armenia. This can improve healthcare access in Armenia, especially in remote areas.

Tourism

In the past five years, there has been an increase in the number of Indian tourists to Armenia. Therefore, both sides need to focus on direct air connectivity, ease visa procedures, engage in collaborative marketing efforts, and participate in international travel fairs. They can hold joint road shows, advertising campaigns, digital engagement, and cultural and culinary events in their countries. The promotion of niche tourism opportunities like wellness and yoga retreats in India and adventure and wine tourism in Armenia can be attractive to specific interest groups. Armenia and India could also develop Armenian heritage trails in India. Films and media also play a large role in the flow of tourism. Media could be invited to visit the other country and publish pictures and articles.

Energy and Environment

Armenia's climatic advantages and India's technological expertise could be harnessed for collaborations in renewable energy projects, including solar and wind energy. Joint efforts in improving energy efficiency, developing smart grids, and modernising hydropower infrastructure can enhance energy security. A focus on waste management, water conservation, investment in clean energy projects, trade in green technologies, and biodiversity protection could contribute to sustainable development.

Cooperation in Space Technology

Through the Indian Space Research Organisation (ISRO), India has developed a robust space programme that is known for its cost-effective and successful missions. Both countries could collaborate on setting up space research infrastructures like ground stations, R&D facilities, and data analysis centres in Armenia. Commercial opportunities in the global space market could be explored, with Armenia becoming a regional hub for space technology.

Migration of Labour

There is a large Indian migrant labour population in Armenia, filling labour shortages in sectors such as agriculture, construction, and services.⁸ Armenia's growing economy, demand for skilled labour, lower cost of living, and a declining population makes it an attractive option. Many Indian students in Yerevan find employment within the country and contribute to the skilled labour power. However, migration also poses challenges such as language, cultural differences, exploitation, and regulatory issues. Both governments should work on bilateral agreements to mitigate these challenges by managing labour migration effectively and ensuring mutual benefits and protection of workers.

Diaspora

Both India and Armenia have a strong and influential diaspora presence in the United States. These links could be harnessed for mutual benefit and encourage Armenian-American investments in India. A joint India-Armenia venture fund could help set up joint startups, encourage knowledge transfer, and enable joint research and development projects in IT, AI, biotechnology, agriculture, healthcare, and renewable energy. Events like cultural festivals, business forums, and networking sessions could be carried out. Government support could be sought to create a conducive policy environment for diaspora movements.

Conclusion

The next phase of India-Armenia relations looks promising and dynamic. Both countries stand to gain by continuing to strengthen diplomatic ties and exploring new avenues of collaboration. Interchanges at Yerevan Dialogue and Raisina Dialogue are bound to progressively assist the course of bilateral relations. This partnership will also contribute to regional stability and promote international cooperation.

Reena Pandey is India's former Ambassador to Armenia.

Endnotes

- 1 Ministry of External Affairs, *Brief on India-Armenia Relations* (Ministry of External Affairs, February 2024) https://www.mea.gov.in/Portal/ForeignRelation/India-ArmeniaFebruary_2024.pdf
- 2 Embassy of India in Yerevan, Brief on India-Armenia Bilateral Relations, 5.
- Dipanjan Roy Chaudhury, "Armenia Proposes Iran-Black Sea Corridor for Indian Traders," The Economic Times, March 10, 2023, https://economictimes.indiatimes.com/news/international/ world-news/armenia-proposes-iran-black-sea-corridor-for-indian-traders/articleshow/98526297. cms?from=mdr
- 4 Embassy of India in Yerevan, Brief on India-Armenia Bilateral Relations, 8.
- 5 Embassy of India in Yerevan, Brief on India-Armenia Bilateral Relations, 8.
- 6 Embassy of India in Yerevan, Brief on India-Armenia Bilateral Relations , 8.
- Manjeet Negi, "India Outshines Russia, Poland to Bag USD 40 Million Defence Deal in Armenia," *India Today,* March 2, 2020, https://www.indiatoday.in/india/story/india-outshines-russia-poland-to-bag-usd-40-million-defence-deal-in-armenia-1651419-2020-03-01; Siranush Melikyan, "Fast-Tracking Armenia-India Military Cooperation," *ORF Online*, May 17, 2024, https://www.orfonline.org/expert-speak/fast-tracking-armenia-india-military-cooperation.
- 8 Embassy of India in Yerevan, Brief on India-Armenia Bilateral Relations, 8.



Ideas . Forums . Leadership . Impact

20, Rouse Avenue Institutional Area, New Delhi - 110 002, INDIA +91-11-35332000. Fax: +91-11-35332005 contactus@orfonline.org www.orfonline.org